
For requests for further information
Contact:  Rachel Graves 
Tel:       01270 686473
E-Mail:     rachel.graves@cheshireeast.gov.uk  with any apologies

                                          

Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing 
Board

Agenda
Date: Tuesday 28th July 2020
Time: 2.00 pm
Venue: Virtual Meeting

How to Watch the Meeting

For anybody wishing to watch the meeting live please click in the link below:

Click here to view meeting

Or dial in via telephone on 141 020 33215200 and enter Conference ID: 210906135# 
when prompted.

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons 
indicated on the agenda and at the foot of each report.

It should be noted that Part 1 items of Cheshire East committees are recorded and the 
recordings are uploaded to the Council’s website.

PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT

1. Appointment of Chairman  

2. Appointment of Vice Chairman  

3. Apologies for Absence  

Public Document Pack

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ODBlMjA0OTctOWExOC00MDdmLTk4MjAtMjcyZDZjNTA3ODUw%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%22cdb92d10-23cb-4ac1-a9b3-34f4faaa2851%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%2266f2cf46-7470-459f-adaa-8bab2899eb00%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d


4. Declarations of Interest  

To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests in any item on the agenda.

5. Minutes of Previous meeting  (Pages 3 - 6)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 28 January 2020.

6. Public Speaking Time/Open Session  

In accordance with paragraph 2.32 of the Committee Procedural Rules and 
Appendix 7 to the Rules a period of 10 minutes is allocated for members of the 
public to address the meeting on any matter relevant to the work of the body in 
question.  Individual members of the public may speak for up to 5 minutes but 
the Chairman or person presiding will decide how the period of time allocated for 
public speaking will be apportioned where there are a number of speakers. 

Members of the public wishing to ask a question or make a statement at the 
meeting should provide at least three clear working days’ notice in writing and 
should include the question with that notice.

7. Health and Wellbeing Board Redesign Task and Finish Group - 
Recommendations  (Pages 7 - 24)

To consider the recommendations of the Health and Wellbeing Redesign Task 
and Finish Group.

8. The Cheshire East COVID-19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support 
Plan  (Pages 25 - 64)

To receive a report on the work being undertaken to develop a localised 
approach to a Covid-19 Test Trace Contain Enable programme in Cheshire East.

9. COVID 19 - Mental Health Impacts  (Pages 65 - 70)

To note the findings of the Healthwatch Survey and consider the most 
appropriate way to effectively respond to the challenges posed by the COVID 19 
outbreak.

THERE ARE NO PART 2 ITEMS



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL

Minutes of a meeting of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board
held on Tuesday, 28th January, 2020 at Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, Westfields, 

Middlewich Road, Sandbach CW11 1HZ

PRESENT

Voting Members

Councillor Sam Corcoran, Cheshire East Council (Chairman)
Dr Andrew Wilson, (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Laura Jeuda, Cheshire East Council
Councillor Jill Rhodes, Cheshire East Council (sub for Councillor Flavell)
Mark Palethorpe, Cheshire East Council
Louise Barry, Healthwatch
Clare Watson, Cheshire CCGs
John Wilbraham,  East Cheshire NHS Trust

Non-Voting Members
Superintendent Peter Crowcroft, Cheshire Police
Tom Knight, NHS England
Mark Larking, Cheshire Fire and Rescue
Caroline Whitney, CVS

Observer
Councillor Janet Clowes, Cheshire East Council

Councillors in Attendance
Councillor Jos Saunders

Cheshire East Officers
 Guy Kilminster, Cheshire East Council
Alex Jones, Cheshire East Council
Alistair Jordan, Cheshire East Council
Rachel Graves, Cheshire East Council

36 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies were received from Councillor Kathryn Flavell (Cheshire East 
Council), Linda Couchman (Cheshire East Council) and Kath O’Dwyer 
(Cheshire East Council).

37 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor S Corcoran declared a non-pecuniary interest by virtue of his 
wife being a GP.

Page 3 Agenda Item 5



38 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 26 November 2019 be approved 
as a correct record.

39 PUBLIC SPEAKING TIME/OPEN SESSION 

There were no members of the public present.

40 BETTER CARE FUND PLAN 2019 - 2020 

The Board considered a report which provided an overview of the Better 
Care Fund Plan for 2019/20.

The aim of the Better Care Fund was to bring about greater integration 
between health and social care.  The Plan included the Improved Better 
Care Fund, Better Care Fund and winter pressures.  

In total there were 21 schemes in operation across the fund and the report 
summarises the details of each scheme.  In total the schemes covered 
£35m of expenditure.

RESOLVED:

That the Board agree the Better Care Fund Plan for 2019-20.

41 BETTER CARE FUND QUARTER 2 UPDATE 

The Board considered a report which provided a summary of the progress 
made during Quarter 2 2019/20 of the Better Care Fund. 

A range of activities had taken place during Quarter 2 which included the 
production and deployment of a winter plan, the commissioning of two 
interim trusted assessor services and the establishment of task and finish 
groups to provide greater focus on reducing delayed transfers of care 
which were attributed to social care.

RESOLVED:

That the Board note the Better Care Fund performance in Quarter 2 
2019/20.

42 PAN-CHESHIRE CHILD DEATH OVERVIEW PANEL ANNUAL REPORT 

The Board received a presentation on the Pan Cheshire Child Death 
Overview Panel Annual Report from Dr A Thirumurugan.

Page 4



The presentation provided data on the number of child deaths, the number 
of reviews carried out, time taken to carry out reviews, categories of death, 
location of death and any modifiable factors which may help prevent 
unnecessary child deaths, and set out the priorities for 2019/20 and the 
challenges faced by the Pan Cheshire Child Death Overview Panel.

RESOLVED: 

That the Pan Cheshire Child Death Overview Panel Annual Report 
2018/19 be received and noted.

43 CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD 
ANNUAL REPORT 

The Board considered the Annual Report of the Cheshire East 
Safeguarding Children Board for 2018/19.

The Annual Report highlighted the activities, progress, achievements and 
challenges faced by the Cheshire East Safeguarding Children Board.  The 
Report also set out the key priorities for 2019/20.

RESOLVED:

That the Cheshire East Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 
2018/19 be received and noted.

44 MENTAL WELLBEING STRATEGY - HEADING IN THE RIGHT 
DIRECTION 

The Board considered a report on the Cheshire and Warrington Mental 
Health Strategy – ‘Heading in the Right Direction’.  

The Cheshire and Warrington Public Sector Transformation Programme 
had identified mental health as a barrier to residents thriving across 
Cheshire and Warrington from the Case for Change evidence review in 
2016.  Partners had been looking at mental health and prevention since 
then and this had resulted in the creation of the Mental Wellbeing Strategy 
– ‘Heading in the Right Direction’.  The Strategy sought to demonstrate the 
potential impact of place on wellbeing.  The Strategy proposed 11 
recommendations – 5 actions and 6 enabler, which had been worked up 
into a delivery plan.

The Mental Health Strategy would be considered by all the Health and 
Wellbeing Boards in the Cheshire and Warrington Sub-region.

RESOLVED:

That the Board support the Mental Health Strategy.

Page 5



45 CHESHIRE EAST PARTNERSHIP TRANSFORMATION UPDATE 

The Board received an update on the Cheshire East Partnership 
Transformation.

A workshop would be taking place shortly to look at the expectations, work 
streams and performance for the next year.

RESOLVED:

That the update be noted.

The meeting commenced at 2.00 pm and concluded at 3.50 pm

Councillor S Corcoran (Chairman)

Page 6



                                                                      
CHESHIRE EAST HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
Reports Cover Sheet

 

Title of Report: Health and Wellbeing Board Redesign Task and Finish Group - Recommendations

Date of meeting: 28th July 2020

Written by: Guy Kilminster

Contact details: Guy.kilminster@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Health & Wellbeing 
Board Lead:

Cllr Sam Corcoran

Executive Summary

Is this report for: Information     Discussion   X Decision   X

Why is the report being 
brought to the board?

1.To advise the Board on the work done by the Task and Finish Group, established 
to set out proposals for the redesign of the Health and Wellbeing Board to ensure it 
provides system leadership for health and wellbeing in Cheshire East.

2. To seek the Board’s approval of the redesign proposals and draft Principles.

Please detail which, if 
any, of the Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy 
priorities this report 
relates to? 

Creating a place that supports health and wellbeing for everyone living in Cheshire 
East 
Improving the mental health and wellbeing of people living and working in Cheshire 
East 
Enable more people to live well for longer  
All of the above X 

Please detail which, if 
any, of the Health & 
Wellbeing Principles this 
report relates to?

Equality and Fairness 
Accessibility 
Integration 
Quality 
Sustainability 
Safeguarding 
All of the above X

Key Actions for the 
Health & Wellbeing 
Board to address. 
Please state 
recommendations for 
action.

To consider and approve the proposals for the redesign of the Cheshire East Health 
and Wellbeing Board (including the adoption of the draft Principles). The proposals 
are summarised in paragraphs 5.10.1 to 5.10.6

Has the report been 
considered at any other 
committee meeting of 
the Council/meeting of 
the CCG 
board/stakeholders?

N/A

Page 7 Agenda Item 7



Has public, service user, 
patient 
feedback/consultation 
informed the 
recommendations of 
this report?

N/A

If recommendations are 
adopted, how will 
residents benefit? 
Detail benefits and 
reasons why they will 
benefit.

The aim of the redesign is to streamline the health and care system leadership 
arrangements in Cheshire East, bringing together the leadership for the Cheshire 
East Place Health and Care Partnership and the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing 
Board. This will provide a simplified and more transparent strategic planning 
structure.

1 Report Summary

1.1 The Task and Finish Group (T&FG) was established following the meeting of the Health 
and Wellbeing Board on 22nd October 2019. This had considered and agreed a report 
proposing a redesign of the Board and the way it works. The T&FG met three times. 
Their draft proposals were considered and commented upon by the Health and Wellbeing 
Board at it’s meeting on 25th February. This paper provides the final recommendations in 
relation to the proposed changes.

2 Recommendations

2.1 That the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board consider and approve the redesign 
proposals set out in the report (including the adoption of the draft Principles).

2.2 That the Board note that the changes to the Terms of Reference required as a result of 
agreeing 2.1 will be progressed to secure formal adoption by the Council. 

3 Reasons for Recommendations

3.1 To ensure that the Health and Wellbeing Board delivers on its statutory requirements and 
provides the system leadership necessary to drive and lead a transformation in Health 
and Wellbeing in the Cheshire East Place.

4 Impact on Health and Wellbeing Strategy Priorities

4.1 One of the fundamental reasons for these proposals being put forward is to ensure clarity 
regarding the strategic leadership for health and wellbeing within the Cheshire East Place 
and a more proactive and effective approach to the Priorities within the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy and the Cheshire East Partnership Five Year Plan (which 
incorporates those of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy). 

Page 8



5 Background and proposals

5.1  With the establishment of the Cheshire East Place Partnership and the Acute 
Sustainability programme (both part of the governance of the Cheshire and Merseyside 
Health and Care Partnership in response to the NHS Long Term Plan), it became 
necessary to review how the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board fits into the 
partnership landscape.

5.2 Health and Wellbeing Boards were established as a result of the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012. They were intended to be forums in which key leaders from the local health 
and care system work together to improve the health and wellbeing of their local 
population. 

5.3 Health and Wellbeing Boards are a formal committee of the local authority charged with 
promoting greater integration and partnership between bodies from the NHS, public 
health and local government. They have a statutory duty, with Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (CCGs), to produce a joint strategic needs assessment and a joint health and 
wellbeing strategy for their local population.

5.4 The Board exists to:
 Bring together the key decision makers across the NHS and local government;
 Set a clear direction for the commissioning of health care, social care and public 

health;
 Drive the integration of services across communities;
 Improve local democratic accountability, involving Councillors in discussions with 

health managers and clinicians;
 Tackle inequalities in health.

5.5 A workshop session in July 2019 considered how to ensure that the Board continues to 
fulfil its statutory requirements and effectively delivers against the key activities and 
responsibilities as set out in the Terms of Reference, whilst avoiding duplicating the work 
of the Cheshire East Place Health and Care Partnership Board and Acute Sustainability 
Programme. It was agreed that there were opportunities to improve the effectiveness of 
the Health and Wellbeing Board, and that the work of the Place Partnership Board and 
the Acute Sustainability programme should be better connected to and aligned with, the 
priorities of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

5.6 It was agreed that the nature of the business that the Health and Wellbeing Board deals 
with needs to change and that the focus should be activity where the Board can 
genuinely provide strategic leadership, influence commissioning and support integration. 
It was also acknowledged that the meetings of the Board should be more focussed with 
clarity in relation to actions, responsibilities and monitoring of delivery.

Page 9



5.7 It was proposed that a small Task and Finish Group be established to lead the work to 
further develop the proposals and to oversee the transition to the new model over the 
next few months. Things that the Board agreed would be looked at included:

 Reducing the number of meetings and having more focussed agendas;
 Delegating decision-making to the Board;
 Clarifying the relationship with the Place Partnership governance;
 Strengthening the Board’s ability to seek assurance that actions are being 

delivered and holding the system to account;
 Extending the membership of the Board;
 Reviewing the business that the Board deals with.

5.8 The T&FG membership was John Wilbraham, Matthew Cunningham, Linda Couchman, 
Matt Tyrer, Dr Andrew Wilson, Tracey Cole, Claire Heaney and Guy Kilminster. Three 
meetings were held to (29th November, 13th December,17th January). A further meeting 
planned for March was cancelled because of the COVID 19 outbreak. 

5.9 Three elements are considered to be integral to determining the future of the Board:

5.9.1  The Scope of the Board: Besides the statutory requirements of all Health and Wellbeing 
Boards (Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment and leading integrated working between health and 
social care commissioners) the T&FG are of the view that there needs to be clarity upon 
the nature of the business and the types of decisions that the Board might be considering 
and making.  

5.9.2 We are of the view that focussing the business of the Board on the shaping and delivery 
of improvements to the health and wellbeing of our residents with a focus on prevention, 
early intervention and the wider determinants of health should be our aim. The Board 
also has to demonstrate that it is meeting the needs of the population (as identified 
through the JSNA and H&W Strategy) and that the system, through its partners, is 
delivering against the outcomes of the Strategy and the Five Year Plan. We recognise 
that working towards the alignment and connectedness of the Place Partnership Board 
and the Health and Wellbeing Board is a sensible thing to do and have a proposal 
(below) to facilitate this.

5.9.3 To better enable this the re-establishment of agenda planning meetings is recommended, 
with the focus of future agendas being the contribution to and impact upon the delivery of 
the Five Year Plan.

5.9.4  The Principles by which the Board will operate. The Board members should feel a moral 
obligation to work effectively together to provide the strategic leadership for health and 
wellbeing in the Cheshire East Place. To facilitate this it was proposed that a draft set of 
Principles be prepared to sit alongside the Code of Conduct within the Terms of 
Reference. These are attached as Appendix A. 

Page 10



5.9.5 The Process of the Board: The extent to which organisations will be willing (and are 
allowed) to formally delegate decision making powers to the Health and Wellbeing Board 
or to their representatives attending the Board on their behalf was considered. After 
discussion it was agreed that this was not deemed appropriate or necessary at this point 
in time. 

5.9.6 Alternatively exploring a formal ‘Joint Committee’ arrangement that might provide an 
option for taking on more powers was considered. It is recommended that we adopt a 
‘watching brief’ in relation to this as a way forward if the Government progresses the NHS 
Integrated Care Bill. We are of the view that in due course, legal advice will need to be 
sought to determine the options available in relation to ‘decision making’ and the most 
appropriate means by which this can be achieved.  

 
5.9.7 It is proposed that the Place Partnership Board becomes accountable to the Health and 

Wellbeing Board and provides the ‘engine room’ of the Health and Wellbeing Board, to 
drive the delivery of the Five Year Plan and the integration agenda. This would establish 
a clear relationship between the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Place Partnership, 
giving the Health and Wellbeing board a clear role as the strategic leadership forum, with 
the Partnership Board responsible for ensuring the transformational change of health and 
care that is required, takes place. 

5.9.8 This proposal was considered and agreed by the Cheshire East Place Health and Care 
Partnership Board at its meeting on 4th March 2020

5.9.9 It is proposed that changes to the Membership of the Board be agreed in the light of the 
proposals within this paper and organisational changes taking place with the creation of 
the single Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCCG) and the Cheshire East 
Integrated Care Partnership (ICP).  It is proposed that the new CCCG has two voting 
places on the Board and the ICP also has two voting places (one of which would replace 
the current ‘independent NHS representative’). Additionally, the Chair of the Cheshire 
East Place Health and Care Partnership Board would be invited to join the Board as a 
voting member. This would rebalance the Board’s membership (see Appendix B).

5.9.10 It has been proposed that separating out on the meeting agendas the business that 
Board members have read in advance as ‘consent items’ and those that require 
discussion/agreement, be adopted, to speed up meetings and ensure the right business 
gets the most time for discussion and consideration.

5.9.11 It is also proposed that going forward there will be a need to review the groups sitting 
below the H&W Board. At present a number of Boards and Committees report up to the 
Board. The appropriateness of this needs considering, again in the light of system 
changes that are ongoing and the change in emphasis of the Board’s work set out in this 
paper. 

Page 11



5.9.12 At all times the Health and Wellbeing Board should ensure that the voice of the resident 
is at the table and listened to!

5.10   A summary of the proposals for agreement are:

5.10.1 The focus of the business of the Board should be on the shaping and delivery of 
improvements to the health and wellbeing of our residents with an emphasis on 
prevention, early intervention and the wider determinants of health, delivering on the 
outcomes of the Place Five Year Plan and the Health and wellbeing Strategy.

5.10.2 Agenda planning meetings are established, and the agenda will be split into ‘consent’ 
items and items for discussion / agreement.

5.10.3 The draft Principles (Appendix A) are adopted and incorporated into the Terms of 
Reference with the Code of Conduct.

5.10.4The Cheshire East Health and Care Place Partnership Board becomes formally 
accountable to the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board.

5.10.5 The membership of the Health and Wellbeing Board be amended as set out in paragraph 
5.9.9 and Appendix B.

5.10.6 A further piece of work is undertaken to review the groups reporting into the Health and 
Wellbeing Board in the light of the organisational changes taking place within the health 
and care system and the need to streamline the business of the Board. This be 
completed within three months.

5.11 If agreed by the Board the necessary changes will be made to the Terms of Reference 
and put forward to the Council’s Constitution Committee and then a meeting of Council 
for ratification. The required changes to the Terms of Reference can be seen as tracked 
changes in Appendix C.

6 Access to Information

6.1 The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting the report 
writer:
Name: Guy Kilminster
Designation: Corporate Manager Health Improvement
Tel No: 01270 686560 / 07795 617363
Email: guy.kilminster@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Page 12



Health and Wellbeing Board Redesign… APPENDIX A

OFFICIAL

Health and Wellbeing Board Draft Principles and Behaviours

1.1 The Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board Partners shall work together to 
achieve the objectives of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Strategy and The 
Cheshire East Place Partnership Five Year Plan. The Board shall:

(a) Collaborate and work together on an inclusive and supportive basis, with 
optimal use of their individual and collective strengths and capabilities;

(b) Engage in discussion, direction setting and, where appropriate, collective 
agreement, on the basis that all the Partners will participate where agreed 
proposals affect the strategic direction of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
and/or of Services, and in establishing the direction, culture and tone of the 
work and meetings of the Board; 

(c) Act in the spirit of partnership in discussion, direction setting and, where 
appropriate, collective agreement making; 

(d) Always focus upon improvement to provide excellent Services and outcomes 
for the Cheshire East population;

(e) Be accountable to each other through the Board by, where appropriate, taking 
on, managing and accounting to each other in respect of their financial and 
operational performance;

(f) Communicate openly about major concerns, issues or opportunities relating to 
the Board;

(g) Act in a way that is best for the delivery of activity to drive forward the Five 
Year Plan, and shall do so in a timely manner and respond accordingly to 
requests for support promptly;

(h) Work with stakeholders effectively, following the principles of co- design and 
co-production;

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Health and Wellbeing Board Redesign… Appendix B

OFFICIAL

Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board Membership Review

From current Terms of Reference

The Core membership of the CEHWB will comprise the following:

Voting members:

 Three councillors from Cheshire East Council 
 The Strategic Director of Adult Social Care and Health
 The Director of Children’s Services
 A local Healthwatch representative
 Up to four representatives from the relevant CCG(s)
 Independent NHS representative (nominated by the CCGs)

Non-voting members

 The Chief Executive of the Council 
 The Director of Public Health 
 A nominated representative of NHS England / NHS Improvement

Co-opted voting or non-voting associate members can be appointed through a majority vote 
of the Board’s core voting members.

Current membership

Voting Members

Cllr Sam Corcoran, Leader of the Council

Cllr Kathryn Flavell, Portfolio Holder for Children and Families

Cllr Laura Jeuda, Portfolio Holder Adult Social Care and Health (CEC)

Mark Palethorpe, Executive Director of People (CEC)

Linda Couchman, Acting Director of Adults and Health (CEC)

Clare Watson, Cheshire CCG Accountable Officer

Dr Andrew Wilson, Cheshire CCG Chair

John Wilbraham, East Cheshire NHS Trust (Independent NHS representative)

Louise Barry, CEO Healthwatch Cheshire

Non Voting Members

Lorraine O’Donnell Chief Executive (CEC)

Matt Tyrer, Director of Public Health (CEC) 

Page 15



Health and Wellbeing Board Redesign… Appendix B

OFFICIAL

Tom Knight, (NHS England / Improvement representative)

Co-opted non-voting members

Frank Jordan, Director of Place (CEC)

Superintendent Peter Crowcroft (Cheshire Constabulary) representing the Police and Crime 
Commissioner

Mike Larking (Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service)

Caroline Whitney (CVS Cheshire East) representing the Community, Voluntary and Faith 
Sector

Proposed Membership

Voting members

 Three councillors from Cheshire East Council 
 The Executive Director of People (Director of Adult Social Services and Director 

of Children’s Services)
 The Director of Public Health
 A local Healthwatch representative
 Two representatives from the Cheshire CCG
 Two representatives from the Cheshire Integrated Care Partnership
 The Chair of the Cheshire East Place Partnership

Non-voting members

 The Chief Executive of the Council 
 A nominated representative of NHS England / NHS Improvement

Co-opted non-voting members

The Director of Place (Cheshire East Council)

A representative of the Police and Crime Commissioner

A representative of the Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service

A representative of the Community, Voluntary and Faith Sector

Any additional members the Board choose to co-opt as set out in section 5.3 of the Terms of 
reference

Page 16



As approved by Council 18th July 2019                               Appendix C

OFFICIAL
1

Cheshire East Statutory Health and Wellbeing Board 

Terms of Reference (as approved by Council 18th July 2019)

1. Context

1.1 The full name of the Board shall be the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing 
Board. (CEHWB)

1.2 The CEHWB was established in April 2013.  

1.3 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 and subsequent regulations provide the 
statutory framework for Health and Wellbeing Boards (HWB).  

1.4 For the avoidance of doubt, except where specifically disapplied by these 
Terms of Reference, the Council Procedure Rules (as set out in its 
Constitution) will apply. 

 
2. Purpose

• To work in partnership to make a positive difference to the health and 
wellbeing of the residents of Cheshire East through an evidence based 
focus on improved outcomes and reducing health inequalities.

• To prepare and keep up to date the Joint Strategic Needs Assessments 
(JSNAs) and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategies (JHWSs), which is a 
duty of local authorities and clinical commissioning groups (CCGs). 

• To lead integrated working between health and social care 
commissioners, including providing advice, assistance or other support 
to encourage arrangements under section 75 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (ie lead commissioning, pooled budgets and/or 
integrated provision) in connection with the provision of health and 
social care services. 

• To be a forum that enables member organisations of the Board to hold 
each other  to account for their responsibilities for improving the health 
of the population

• To assist in fostering good working relationships between 
commissioners of health-related services and the CEHWB itself. 

• To  assist in fostering good working relationships  between 
commissioners of health-related services (such as housing and many 
other local government services) and commissioners of health and 
social care services

 To undertake any other functions that may be delegated to it by the 
Council under section 196(2) of the Health and Social Care Act 2012. 

Page 17



As approved by Council 18th July 2019                               Appendix C

OFFICIAL
2

Such delegated functions need not be confined to public health and 
social care. 

• To provide advice assistance and support for the purpose of 
encouraging the making of arrangements under section 75 of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 in connection with the provision of 
such services.

3.  Roles and Responsibilities

3.1 To work with the Council and CCG(s) effectively to ensure the delivery of the 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

3.2 To work within the CEHWB to build a collaborative partnership to key decision 
making that embeds health and wellbeing challenge, issue resolution and 
provides strategic system leadership.

3.3 To participate in CEHWB discussions to reflect the views of their partner 
organisations, being sufficiently briefed to be able to make recommendations 
about future policy developments and service delivery.

3.4 To champion the work of the CEHWB in their wider work and networks and in 
all individual community engagement activities.

3.5 To ensure that there are communication mechanisms in place within partner 
organisations to enable information about the CEHWB’s priorities and 
recommendations to be effectively disseminated.

3.6 To share any changes to strategy, policy, and the system consequences of 
such on budgets and service delivery within their own partner organisations 
with the CEHWB to consider the wider system implications. 

4. Accountability

4.1 The CEHWB carries no formal delegated authority from any of the individual 
statutory bodies.

4.2 Core Members of the CEHWB have responsibility and accountability for their 
individual duties and their role on the CEHWB.

4.3 The CEHWB will discharge its responsibilities by means of recommendations 
to the relevant partner organisations, which will act in accordance with their 
respective powers and duties.

4.4 The Council’s Core Members will ensure that they keep Cabinet and wider 
Council advised of the work of the CEHWB.

4.5 The CEHWB may report and be accountable to Full Council and to  the 
relevant Governing Body(ies) of the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group(s)   
by ensuring access to meeting minutes and presenting papers as required.

Page 18



As approved by Council 18th July 2019                               Appendix C

OFFICIAL
3

4.6 The CEHWB will not exercise scrutiny duties around health or adult social 
care services directly. This will remain the role of the Cheshire East Health 
and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee and in respect of 
children’s health, the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. Decisions taken and work progressed by the CEHWB will be 
subject to scrutiny by the Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

4.7 The CEHWB will provide information to the public through publications, local 
media, and wider public activities by publishing the minutes of its meetings on 
the Council’s website. The CEHWB is supported by an Engagement and 
Communications Network across HWB organisations to ensure this function 
can operate successfully.

5. Membership

5.1 The Core membership of the CEHWB will comprise the following:

Voting members:
 Three councillors from Cheshire East Council 
 The Executive Director of People (Director of Adult Social Care and 

Director of Children’s Services)
 The Director of Public Health 

 A local Healthwatch representative
  Two representatives from the  Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group
 Two representatives from the Cheshire Integrated Care Partnership
 The Chair of the Cheshire East Place Partnership

Non-voting members
 The Chief Executive of the Council 
 A nominated representative of NHS England / NHS Improvement

The councillor membership of the CEHWB is nominated by the Leader of the 
Council.  The Leader can be a member of the CEHWB as one of the three 
councillors who are voting members.

5.2 The Core Members will keep under review the Membership of the CEHWB 
and if appropriate will make recommendations to Council on any changes to 
the Core Membership.

5.3 The above Core Members 1 through a majority vote have the authority to 
appoint individuals as Non Voting Associate Members of the CEHWB. 
(Committee Procedure Rule 20.1 refers). The length of their membership will 
be for up to one year and will be subject to re-selection at the next Annual 
General Meeting “AGM” of the CEHWB. Associate Members will assist the 

1 Regulation 5(1) removes this restriction in relation to health and wellbeing boards by disapplying section 
104(1) of the 1972 Act to enable the local authority directors specified in the 2012 Act to become members of 
health and wellbeing boards

Page 19



As approved by Council 18th July 2019                               Appendix C

OFFICIAL
4

CEHWB in achieving the priorities agreed within the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy and may indeed be chairs of sub structure forums where 
they are not actual Core Members of the CEHWB.

5.4 The above Core Members 2 through a majority vote have the authority to 
recommend to Council that individuals be appointed as Voting Associate 
Members of the CEHWB. The length of their membership will be for up to one 
year and will be subject to re-selection at the next Annual General Meeting 
“AGM” of the CEHWB.

5.5 Each Core Member has the power to nominate a single named substitute.  If a 
Substitute Member be required, advance notice of not less than 2 working 
days should be given to the Council whenever practicable. The Substitute 
Members shall have the same powers and responsibilities as the Core 
Members.

6. Frequency of Meetings

6.1 There will be no fewer than four public meetings per year (including an AGM), 
usually once every three months as a formal CEHWB. 

6.2 Additional meetings of the CEHWB may be convened with agreement of the 
CEHWB’s Chairman.

7. Agenda and Notice of Meetings

7.1 Any agenda items or reports to be tabled at the meeting should be submitted 
to the Council’s Democratic Services no later than seven working days in 
advance of the next meeting. Generally, no business will be conducted that is 
not on the agenda.

7.2 Any voting member of the Board may approach the Chairman of the Board to 
deal with an item of business which the voting member believes is urgent and 
under the circumstances requires a decision of the Board. The Chairman’s 
ruling of whether the requested item is considered / tabled or not at the 
meeting will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.

7.3 In accordance with the Access to Information legislation, Democratic Services 
will circulate and publish the agenda and reports prior to the next meeting. 
Exempt or Confidential Information shall only be circulated to Core Members.

8. Annual General Meeting

8.1 The CEHWB shall elect the Chairman and Vice Chairman at each AGM, the 
appointment will be by majority vote of all Core voting Members present at the 
meeting.

2 Regulation 5(1) removes this restriction in relation to health and wellbeing boards by disapplying section 
104(1) of the 1972 Act to enable the local authority directors specified in the 2012 Act to become members of 
health and wellbeing boards

Page 20



As approved by Council 18th July 2019                               Appendix C

OFFICIAL
5

8.2 The CEHWB will approve the representative nominations by the partner 
organisations as Core Members.

9. Quorum

9.1 Any full meeting of the CEHWB shall be quorate if there is representation of 
any  three of the following statutory members:  –the relevant NHS Cheshire 
CCG(s), Local Health Watch, a Councillor and an Officer of Cheshire East 
Council.

9.2 Failure to achieve a quorum within  fifteen minutes of the scheduled start of 
the meeting, or should the meeting become inquorate after it has started, shall 
mean that the meeting will proceed as an informal meeting but that any 
decisions shall require appropriate ratification at the next quorate meeting. 

10. Procedure at Meetings

10.1 General meetings of the CEHWB are open to the public and in accordance 
with the Council’s Committee Procedure Rules will include a Public Question 
Time Session. Papers, agendas and minutes will be published on the 
Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing website.

10.2 The Council’s Committee Procedure Rules will apply in respect of formal 
meetings subject to the following:-

10.3 The CEHWB will also hold development/informal sessions throughout the year 
where all members are expected to attend and partake as the agenda 
suggests.

10.4  Core Members are entitled to speak through the Chairman. Associate 
Members are entitled to speak at the invitation of the Chairman.

10.5 With the agreement of the CEHWB, subgroups can be set up to consider 
distinct areas of work. The subgroup will be responsible for arranging the 
frequency and venue of their meetings. The CEHWB will approve the 
membership of the subgroups.

10.6 Any subgroup recommendations will be made to the CEHWB who will 
consider them in accordance with these terms of reference and their relevance 
to the priorities within the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and its delivery 
plan.

10.7 Whenever possible decisions will be reached by consensus or failing that a 
simple majority vote by those members entitled to vote. 

11. Expenses

11.1 The partnership organisations are responsible for meeting the expenses of 
their own representatives.

11.2 A modest CEHWB budget will be agreed annually to support engagement and 
communication and the business of the CEHWB.

Page 21



As approved by Council 18th July 2019                               Appendix C

OFFICIAL
6

12. Conflict of Interest

12.1 In accordance with the Council’s Committee Procedure Rules, at the 
commencement of all meetings all CEHWB Members shall declare disclosable 
pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests and any conflicts of interest.

12.2 In the case of non pecuniary matters Members may remain for all or part of 
the meeting, participate and vote at the meeting on the item in question.

12.3  In the case of pecuniary matters Members must leave the meeting during 
consideration of that item.

13. Conduct of Core Members at Meetings

13.1 CEHWB members will agree to adhere to the seven principles outlined in the 
CEHWB Code of Conduct when carrying out their duties as a CEHWB 
member [Appendix 1].

14. Review

14.1 The above terms of reference will be reviewed every two years at the CEHWB 
AGM.

14.2 Any amendments shall only be included by consensus or a simple majority 
vote, prior to referral to the Constitution Committee and Council.

January 2017 
Revised July 2019

Definition

Exempt Information
Which is information falling within any of the descriptions set out in Part I of 
Schedule12A to the Local Government Act 1972 subject to the qualifications set out 
in Part II and the interpretation provisions set out in Part III of the said Schedule in 
each case read as if references therein to “the authority” were references to 
“CEHWB” or any of the partner organisations.

Confidential Information
Information furnished to, partner organisations or the CEHWB by a government 
department upon terms (however expressed) which forbid the disclosure of the 
information to the public; and information the disclosure of which to the public is 
prohibited by or under any enactment or by the order of a court are to be discussed.

Conflict of Interest
You have a Conflict of interest if the issue being discussed in the meeting affects 
you, your family or your close associates in the following ways;
 The issue affects their well being more than most other people who live in the area.
 The issue affect their finances or any regulatory functions and

Page 22



As approved by Council 18th July 2019                               Appendix C

OFFICIAL
7

 A reasonable member of the public with knowledge of the facts would believe it 
likely to harm or impair your ability to judge the public interest.

Associate Members
Associate Member status is appropriate for those who are requested to chair sub 
groups of the CEHWB. 

Health Services
Means services that are provided as part of the health service.

Health-Related Services means services that may have an effect on the health of 
individuals but are not health services or social care services.

Social Care Services
Means services that are provided in pursuance of the social services functions of 
local authorities (within the meaning of the Local Authority Social Services Act 1970

Appendix 1

CEHWB Member Code of Conduct

1. Selflessness
Members of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing CEHWB should act solely in terms 
of the interest of and benefit to the public/patients of Cheshire East. They should not do 
so in order to gain financial or other benefits for themselves, their family or their friends

2. Integrity
Members of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing CEHWB should not place 
themselves under any financial or other obligation to outside individuals or organisations 
that might seek to influence them in the performance of their duties and responsibilities 
as a CEHWB member

3. Objectivity
In carrying out their duties and responsibilities members of the Cheshire East Health and 
Wellbeing CEHWB should make choices based on merit and informed by a sound 
evidence base

4. Accountability
Members of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing CEHWB are accountable for their 
decisions and actions to the public/patients of Cheshire East and must submit 
themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate

5. Openness
Members of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing CEHWB should be as transparent 
as possible about all the decisions and actions that they take as part of or on behalf of 
the CEHWB. They should give reasons for their decisions and restrict information only 
when the wider public interest clearly demands

Page 23



As approved by Council 18th July 2019                               Appendix C

OFFICIAL
8

6. Honesty
Members of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing CEHWB have a duty to declare 
any private interests relating to their responsibilities and duties as CEHWB members 
and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the public interest 
and integrity of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing CEHWB

7. Leadership
Members of the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing CEHWB should promote and 
support these principles by leadership and example

Page 24



 

                                                          
CHESHIRE EAST HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
Reports Cover Sheet

Executive Summary

Is this report for: Information     Discussion    Decision   

Why is the report being 
brought to the board?

To provide an overview of the approach to the management of local outbreaks and 
the workstreams being undertaken in Cheshire East. 

Please detail which, if 
any, of the Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy 
priorities this report 
relates to? 

Creating a place that supports health and wellbeing for everyone living in Cheshire 
East 
Improving the mental health and wellbeing of people living and working in Cheshire 
East 
Enable more people to live well for longer  
All of the above  

Please detail which, if 
any, of the Health & 
Wellbeing Principles this 
report relates to?

Equality and Fairness 
Accessibility 
Integration 
Quality 
Sustainability 
Safeguarding 
All of the above 

Key Actions for the 
Health & Wellbeing 
Board to address. 
Please state 
recommendations for 
action.

Note the contents of the report and the role of the Health and Wellbeing Board in 
oversight and governance of the Local Outbreak Plan.

To maintain a Local Outbreak Plan, which is an evolving document through ongoing 
learning and developments.

To include Test Trace Contain Enable (TTCE) as a standing agenda item as part of the 
Local Outbreak Plan until such time as it can be stepped down.

To work in partnership in line with the Local Outbreak Plan as part of our local 
response in the event of a local outbreak.
  

Title of Report: Cheshire East COVID-19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan

Date of meeting: 28th July 2020

Written by: Shelley Brough, Rod Thomson, Matt Tyrer

Contact details: Shelley.Brough@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

Health & Wellbeing 
Board Lead:

Matt Tyrer

Page 25 Agenda Item 8

mailto:Shelley.Brough@cheshireeast.gov.uk


Has the report been 
considered at any other 
committee meeting of 
the Council/meeting of 
the CCG 
board/stakeholders?

The Local Outbreak Plan summary has been reviewed in CEBRA and has been shared 
with partners and the public.  The Plan summary is available on the Council’s 
website: https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/covid-19/cec-covid-outbreak-doc-4-
digital-lres-final.pdf

Has public, service user, 
patient 
feedback/consultation 
informed the 
recommendations of 
this report?

No, the contents of the plan were mandated by government, and the timescales for 
publication directed by government were extremely short as an urgent response the 
national Covid-19 recovery plan.

A core function and role of the Local Authority within the plan is engagement and 
communication with local people, places and communities.  Therefore, a 
communications strategy has been developed which underpins the plan for future 
communication and engagement activities.

If recommendations are 
adopted, how will 
residents benefit? 
Detail benefits and 
reasons why they will 
benefit.

There is a strong evidence base, and long standing embedded Public Health practice 
which supports the deployment of a Test Trace Contain Enable (TTCE) as an 
effective prevention approach for infectious diseases such as Covid-19.

A local approach will be delivered to allow effective implementation of the Test 
Trace Contain and Enable (TTCE) approach that will allow continued easing of 
lockdown measures across Cheshire East.

1 Report Summary

1.1 The report summarises the work being undertaken to develop a localised approach to a 
Covid-19 Test Trace Contain Enable (TTCE) programme in Cheshire East.  The local 
role is to support vulnerable people and complex places, the report therefore recognises 
the enabling work that needs to take place to support this.

1.2 The primary objectives of the TTCE programme identified by the DHSC as part of ‘Local 
Outbreak Control Plans’ will be to control the COVID-19 rate of reproduction (R), reduce 
the spread of infection and save lives, and in doing so help to return life to as normal as 
possible, for as many people as possible, in a way that is safe, protects our health and 
care systems and releases our economy.
  

1.3 The Health and Wellbeing Board will be providing oversight of both the local Covid-19 
‘Health Protection Board’ and the ‘Local Engagement Board’.

2 Recommendations

That the Health and Wellbeing Board:

2.1 Note the contents of the report, and their role in the governance of the Covid-19 Local 
Outbreak Plan.

2.2 Oversee and maintain the Local Outbreak Plan, which is an evolving document through 
ongoing learning and developments.

Page 26

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/covid-19/cec-covid-outbreak-doc-4-digital-lres-final.pdf
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/covid-19/cec-covid-outbreak-doc-4-digital-lres-final.pdf


2.3 Provide oversight of both the local Covid-19 ‘Health Protection Board’ and the ‘Local 
Engagement Board’.

2.4 Include Test Trace Contain Enable (TTCE) and the Local Outbreak Plan as a standing 
agenda item as part of the Local Outbreak Plan until such time as it can be stepped 
down.

2.5 Work in partnership in line with the Local Outbreak Plan as part of our local response in 
the event of a local outbreak.

3 Reasons for Recommendations

3.1 The approaches within the report have been mandated by the national guidance on how 
Local Outbreak Plans should be organised and the seven key workstreams (Themes) 
that form part of the Plan.  

3.2 Local Outbreak Plans form a key part of the national and local Covid-19 Recovery Plan.

3.3 Work on the plan continues at scale and pace within Cheshire East, across Cheshire and 
with strategic partners across Cheshire and Merseyside and the Health and Wellbeing 
Board will need to maintain oversight of our local role within the wider approach.

4 Impact on Health and Wellbeing Strategy Priorities

4.1 This will support people to live well for longer particularly as this will enable the 
targeting of testing in communities and occupations that are identified as higher risk as 
well as allow us to respond rapidly to potential outbreaks to mitigate and minimise the 
effect on our communities to enable continued easing of lockdown restrictions.  Key 
objectives of the Local Outbreak Plan include:

o To control, minimise or eliminate community transmission of COVID-19 by 
reducing the rate of infection and enable people to live a safer and more normal 
life.

o To protect public health by identifying the source of the COVID-19 outbreak and 
implementing necessary control measures to prevent further spread.

o Reduce or at least minimise the impact on inequalities of COVID-19.
o Engage the population in an approach to help our communities (build trust and 

participation) through effective local communications and engagement.
o Minimise the impact on the economy and expedite recovery.

5 Background and Options

5.1 The government’s approach to localised TTCE mandated the creation of Local Outbreak 
Plans at pace with key workstreams being identified at a national level. This report 
provides a summary of our local approach in line with the national Test and Trace 
Programme.

Page 27



5.2 We have worked collaboratively on our local approach with Public Health England, The 
Cheshire and Merseyside Public Health Collaborative (Champs), the Cheshire Resilience 
forum and Cheshire West and Chester Council as our local ‘Beacon Site’.  

5.3 Work is ongoing on seven key workstreams to ensure that we respond rapidly to local 
issues in a way that prevents and manages outbreaks and supports and protects our 
residents.  The seven workstreams include:

o Theme 1 - Care homes and schools.  Planning for local outbreaks in care homes 
and schools (e.g. defining monitoring arrangements, potential scenarios and 
planning the required response).

o Theme 2 - High risk places, locations and communities.  Identifying and 
planning how to manage other high-risk places, locations and communities of 
interest including sheltered housing, dormitories for migrant workers, transport 
access points (e.g., ports, airports), detained settings, rough sleepers, key 
essential businesses, essential infrastructure (e.g. defining preventative measures 
and outbreak management strategies).

o Theme 3 - Local testing capacity.  Identifying methods for local testing to ensure 
a swift response that is accessible to the entire population This could include 
delivering tests to isolated individuals, establishing local pop-up sites or hosting 
mobile testing units at high-risk locations (e.g. defining how to prioritise and 
manage deployment).

o Theme 4 - Contact tracing in complex settings.  Assessing local and regional 
contact tracing and infection control capability in complex settings (e.g., Level 1b) 
and the need for mutual aid (e.g. identifying specific local complex communities of 
interest and settings, developing assumptions to estimate demand, developing 
options to scale capacity if needed).

o Theme 5 - Data integration.  Integrating national and local data and scenario 
planning through the Joint Biosecurity Centre Playbook (e.g., data management 
planning, including data security, NHS data linkages).

o Theme 6 - Vulnerable people.  Supporting vulnerable local people to get help to 
self-isolate (e.g. encouraging neighbours to offer support, identifying relevant 
community groups, planning how to co-ordinate and deploy) and ensuring services 
meet the needs of diverse communities.

o Theme 7 – Local Boards and Legal Framework.  Establishing governance 
structures led by existing Covid-19 Health Protection Boards in conjunction with 
local NHS and supported by existing Gold command forums and a new member-
led Board to communicate with the general public.

5.4 The Local Outbreak Plan will be used for the prevention, investigation, management and 
containment of community outbreaks of COVID-19 in complex settings and communities 
within Cheshire East not already covered by existing outbreak control processes.  Initial 
priority groups identified through local insight and national data include:

Page 28



Complex settings High risk communities High risk places and locations

 Hotels currently housing 
homeless residents

 Hotels housing refugees 
and asylum seekers

 Homeless hostels
 Learning disability supported 

living
 Extra Care housing
 Mental Health residential 

settings
 Secure residential facilities
 Youth housing
 Probation centres
 Primary Care (GP 

Surgeries, dental, 
optometry, pharmacies)

 BAME communities
 Domestic abuse victims
 Gypsy and Traveler
 Homeless
 Migrant workers
 Refugees and asylum 

seekers
 Student population
 Sex workers
 Substance users

 Early years / childcare 
settings (not covered 
by guidance for 
schools)

 Public / shared transport
 Workplaces (e.g. 

construction sites, food 
businesses, including 
restaurants, pubs, meat 
processing and packing 
plants, hairdressers and 
beauticians)

 Other well-defined 
settings and gatherings 
such as places of worship 
/ private social events

 Houses of Multiple 
Occupation

Page 29



 

5.5 Local, Regional and National Governance Structure:

  

P
age 30



 

5.6 The role of the ‘Covid-19 Health Protection Board’ is to make recommendations on 
actions relating to Outbreak Management within Cheshire East with specific duties to 
protect the population of Cheshire East in relation to COVID-19.  The Health Protection 
Board will decide if additional action is required over and above normal outbreak 
management and will provide recommendations to the Cabinet as well as assurance to 
Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board.  

5.7 The role of the ‘Local Outbreak Engagement Board’ is to provide political oversight of the 
delivery of the Local Outbreak Management Plan.  This includes the provision of 
appropriate support and challenge to the actions that arise in responding to outbreaks, 
and to engage with local communities to secure their support.  Effective communication 
with the public and key stakeholders is a core role of the Local Authority as mandated 
nationally.  Effective communication is key to the success of local outbreak prevention 
and management.  The Local Outbreak Engagement Board will provide 
recommendations to Cabinet and assurance to Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing 
Board.

6 Access to Information

6.1 The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting the report 
writer:

Name: Shelley Brough
Designation: Head of Integrated Commissioning
Tel No: 01270 686882
Email: shelley.brough@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

Page 31

mailto:shelley.brough@cheshireeast.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

   

    

Cheshire East COVID-19 
Outbreak Prevention, 
Management and Support Plan 

30 June 2020 (version 1) 

Page 33



              -  Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 
Page 34



         

                                                     

                                                        

                                                           

                                                                                                       

                                                                                      

                                                                                            

                                                                                                                

                                                                                                                             

                                                                                                                    

-Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 3 

Contents 
Section 1 - Introduction, aim, objectives and scope of the plan 6 

Section  - Prevention of COVID-19 in community settings 13 

Section 3 - Identifcation and notifcation of an outbreak 15 

Section 4 - Outbreakmanagement 17 

Section 5 - Declaring the end of an outbreak    

Section 6 - Support to vulnerable people  3 

Section 7 - Data management  5 

Section 8 - Governance  6 

Section 9 - Communication 30 

Page 35



      
     

       
        

       
 

        
      

        
        

       
      

     

      
      

        
       

   

       
        
        

       
      

             
           

              

   

-4 Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 

Foreword 

The UK is experiencing a pandemic that has shaken the country and sadly, at 
time of writing, resulted in more than 43,000 people losing their lives  

However we have seen some positive responses 
during the crisis with communities coming 
together to support each other. In Cheshire East 
thousands of volunteers have signed up to our 
People Helping People scheme to help our most 
vulnerable residents. 

We understand that the UK has passed the peak 
of transmission and case numbers have been 
decreasing but this isn’t a time to be complacent. 
As national restrictions are relaxed it is even more 
important that we all support controls to help 
protect our families friends and neighbours from 
the risk of a local outbreak. 

This document outlines the plans Cheshire East 
Council has made should an outbreak occur. 
Everyone has an essential role to play in following 
the test and trace protocol to protect themselves  
their friends and family. 

It’s through supporting each other and your local 
council that we will continue to win this fight 
against the coronavirus and make sure it has no 
home in our beautiful borough and to allow 
Cheshire East to thrive once again. 

Councillor Sam Corcoran 
Leader 

Page 36



         

     
     

   
    

     
     

      
        

       
        

       
       

  

        
         

      
         

     

        
       

         
       

          
        

          
       

  

   
    

   
  

    
    

     
     

   
     

        
     

      
   

          
       
        

       
       

        
        
         

  

        
       

       
      

           
         

         
   

 
 

  
   

   
   

    
  
   

  
  

  
 

  
   

-Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 5 

Cheshire East Council’s public health team 
have worked alongside national and local 
health professions throughout the 
Coronavirus outbreak to provide Cheshire 
East residents with the information, advice 
and support they have needed  

Through these strong foundations this local outbreak 
plan has been developed to support the national Test  
Trace Contain and Enable programme and to ensure 
that an effective and coordinated approach is in place 
for the prevention rapid detection and management of 
any COVID-19 outbreaks within Cheshire East and the 
County of Cheshire. 

This plan will protect all residents including those most 
vulnerable and sets out how we will work together with 
local care homes schools healthcare settings local 
businesses and other settings most at risk due to the 
number of people/children within the setting. 

Testing will take place at pop-up mobile testing units 
and our designated satellite testing centre at Leighton 
Hospital. During July it is anticipated we will have a 
monthly capacity of 13 150 swabs within Cheshire East. 
11 600 of these will be able at the pop-up testing units 
and 1 550 at Leighton Hospital. Upon getting the results 
of these tests a local tracing system will come into action 
when required to ensure early detection of potential 
local outbreaks. 

We have a robust 
plan in place and are 
prepared to tackle a 
local outbreak of 
COVID-19. 

Dr Lorraine O’Donnell 
Chief  xecutive 

COVID-19 transmission and outbreaks can 
be prevented through good hygiene 
practice such as regular hand washing, 
effective cleaning and adhering to social 
distancing measures  This prevention 
advice has been shared widely throughout 
the pandemic so far and remains to be the 
most effective and important course of 
action to take in preventing a local 
outbreak in Cheshire East  

An outbreak is defined as two or more cases who have 
tested positive for COVID-19 within the same 14-day 
period in people who either work together or have 
visited a place together. Contact tracing and subsequent 
testing will activate an outbreak notification process and 
the outbreak management plan will be put into action. 
Actions such as closing buildings such as workplaces or 
schools may take place and specific advice will be given 
to those affected. 

These measures will allow our public health teams and 
partners to work to contain the virus effectively  
preventing future cases nor transmission into the wider 
community. A community infection control team will 
monitor the outbreak until there is no longer a risk to the 
public health and/or the number of cases has declined. 

As always please help to protect yourself and others by 
adhering to the advised 
social distancing 
measures and 
continue to wash 
your hands for 20 
seconds on a regular 
basis ideally with soap 
and water – these basic 
but effective measures 
are our best method 
of defense against 
this virus. 

DrMatt Tyrer 
Director of Public Health 

Page 37



        

              

 

         
      

          
          

         
      

       
      
    

        
        

        
      

       

        
       

       
       

      
        

         
      

       

        
       

       
           

       
     

 

        
        

        
      

       
        

       
      

      
       

   

      
      

     
     

 

      
      

  

    
      

      

     
    

       
    

 

      
  

     
     

      
  

 

        
    

      
      

    

      
       

       

      
      

      

     
      

         
    

-6 Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 

Section 1: Introduction, aim, objectives and scope of the plan 

1 0 Introduction 

The UK has passed the peak of transmission of COVID-19 
and case numbers are decreasing enabling stringent 
public health and social measures to be adjusted. There 
is an urgent need to plan for a phased transition away 
from such restrictions in a manner that will enable the 
sustainable suppression of transmission at a low-level 
whilst enabling the resumption of some parts of 
economic and social life prioritized by carefully 
balancing socio-economic benefit and epidemiological 
risk. Without careful planning and in the absence of 
scaled up public health and clinical care capacities the 
lifting of restrictive policy measures has the potential to 
lead to an uncontrolled resurgence in COVID-19 
transmission and an amplified second wave of cases. 

Contact tracing is an effective public health measure for 
the control of COVID-19. The prompt identification and 
management of the contacts of Covid-19 cases enables 
interruption of further onward transmission. This is very 
important during the de-escalation of public health 
measures in order to avoid an increase in transmission 
and the potential for local outbreaks. This plan provides 
a framework for the rapid identification containment 
and management of local outbreaks in Cheshire East. 

This document is a summary of the Council’s operational 
plan and is presented without the technical appendices 
and supporting resources which are detailed within the 
full operational plan. This is a live document that will be 
amended due to any on going developments for 
example changes to national guidance. 

1 1 Aim 

As our close partner Cheshire West and Chester Council 
has been identified as one of eleven areas across 
England to be beacons of local action in the 
Government’s COVID-19 Test Trace Contain and Enable 
recovery strategy there are potential benefits to the 
population of Cheshire East and the people of Cheshire 
overall in close cooperation with our neighbouring local 
authority. Building on strong foundations of local 
partnerships and active communities this Plan defines 
local arrangements to support the national Test Trace  
Contain and Enable 

programme to ensure an effective and coordinated 
approach for the prevention rapid detection and 
management of COVID-19 outbreaks within Cheshire 
East and the County of Cheshire. 

1 1 Objectives 

• Prevent cases clusters and outbreaks by providing 
targeted advice and support to identified settings  
workplaces and communities 

• Reduce onward transmission morbidity and 
mortality through rapid identification and isolation of 
cases follow-up and local testing of contacts 

• Prevent future cases through identification of 
potential human animal and/or environmental 
sources of exposure risk factors for infection and 
implementation of appropriate prevention and 
control measures 

• Provide continued support to vulnerable local people 
and diverse communities 

• Provide a framework to support dynamic 
interoperability between national regional and local 
processes 

• Capture joint operational learning to develop and 
share best practice 

1 2 Scope 

This plan will be used for the prevention investigation  
management and containment of community 
outbreaks of COVID-19 in complex settings and 
communities within Cheshire East not already covered 
by existing outbreak control processes. 

• Outbreaks within care homes will be managed 
according to the North West Care Home Outbreak 
Control Plan and in line with national guidance 

• Outbreaks within schools will be managed according 
to the Cheshire and Merseyside Schools Outbreak 
Pack and in line with national guidance 

• Outbreaks within specific NHS trust premises  
whether acute community or mental health trust  
will usually be led by the relevant NHS Trust in 
accordance with their operational plans 

Page 38



         -Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 7 
Page 39



              

           
      

            
    

  

     

   
   

        

    

  

-8 Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 

1.4 KeyDefnitions 

Term Description 

Possible case A person with symptoms fitting the case definition who is awaiting 
testing or the results of a test. 

A person experiencing the following symptoms: 

• fever over 37.8; or; Probable case 
• new continuous cough; or; 
• loss or change of sense of smell or taste. 

A person that has received a positive test result for severe acute Confrmed case 
respiratory syndrome coronavirus COVID-19 

Sporadic case A single confirmed case. 

Page 40



         

             
          

        
            

         
              

       

      
            

 

          
          

          
       

             
            

  

         
          

   
    

  

         
         

         
    

-Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 9 

Term Description 

48 hours prior to and 7 days after the possible or confirmed case’sExposure period 
symptom onset or specimen collection date (if the case is asymptomatic). 

Contact 

Direct contact without Personal Protective Equipment: Face to face 
contact with a case for any length of time within 1m including being 
coughed on a face to face conversation unprotected physical contact 
(skin to skin) or travel in a small vehicle with a case. This includes exposure 
within 1 metre for 1 minute or longer. 

Proximity contact without Personal Protective Equipment: Extended 
close contact (between 1 and 2 metres for more than 15 minutes) with 
a case. 

Household contact: A person who lives with or spends significant time in 
the same household as a possible or confirmed case of coronavirus 
(COVID-19). This includes living and sleeping in the same home anyone 
sharing kitchen or bathroom facilities or sexual partners. 

Person who has had contact (see below) at any time from 48 hours before 
onset of symptoms (or test if asymptomatic) to 7 days after onset of 
symptoms (or test). 

A person who wore appropriate PPE or maintained appropriate social 
distancing (over 2 meters) would not be classed as a contact. 

Two or more confirmed cases of COVID-19 among individuals associated Cluster 
with a specific setting with onset dates within 14 days A comprehensive definition for 

each setting is contained within (In the absence of available information about exposure between the 
the technical appendices index case and other cases) 

Page 41



10   Cheshire East Council COVID-19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan

Term Description

Community transmission

Larger outbreaks of local transmission defined through an assessment of
factors including, but not limited to:

• Large numbers of cases not linkable to transmission chains

• Large numbers of cases from sentinel lab surveillance

• Multiple unrelated clusters in several areas of the
country/territory/area

Outbreak of COVID-19

An outbreak is defined as 2 or more cases that have tested positive for
COVID-19 within the same 14-day period, in people who either work or
have visited a setting.

In a residential care setting the definition is 2 or more symptomatic cases
(or laboratory confirmed) within the same 14-day period.

High-risk places and locations

Settings or locations whereby people or communities engage in
daily activities in which environmental, organizational and personal
factors interact to affect health and wellbeing.  Places and locations
may be considered high risk due to number, age or vulnerability of
people interacting.

Vulnerable people

Clinically extremely vulnerable people – People defined on medical
grounds a clinically extremely vulnerable, meaning they are at the greatest
risk of severe illness. This group includes solid organ transplant recipients,
people receiving chemotherapy, renal dialysis patients and others.

Clinically vulnerable people - Clinically vulnerable people include the
following: people aged 70 or older, people with liver disease, people with
diabetes, pregnant women and others.

Vulnerable people (non-clinical) - There are a range of people who
can be classified as ‘vulnerable’ due to non-clinical factors, such as children
at risk of violence or with special education needs, victims of domestic
abuse, rough sleepers and others.

Page 42



Cheshire  ast Council COVID-19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 11 

1 5 Overview of COVID-19 Outbreak Governance within Cheshire East (Figure 1) 

Individual suspects that they have COVID-19. 

Requests a test via NHS 111 Service  https://111.nhs.uk/covid-19/ 

National 

NHS National Contact Tracing Advisory Service 
Next Steps: If the test is positive, the individual is contacted by NHS Contact 
Tracing Advisory Service, who find out their circumstances and contacts. If a 

case is complex or involves a high-risk setting, this is escalated to regional 
(Tier 1b) teams. 

Cheshire and 
Merseyside 

Public Health England North West, Cheshire and Merseyside Test, Trace, 
Contain, Enable Hub:  

Role: Outbreak Management and Tier 1 Contact Tracing. 
Role: Manages local contact tracing and initial outbreak management. Provides 

action plans for local Single Point of Contacts to carry out, such as swabbing, 
provision of advice and support to settings. 

Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust Infection 
Prevention and Control Team 

Role: This team record referrals, make initial contact with affected settings, conduct 
outbreak management activity, risk assess settings, provides intelligence to Public 

Health England Team and the Local Authority. 

Cheshire East 

Cheshire East Test Trace Contain Enable (TTCE) Hub 
Role: Leads on prevention and consequence management. This service will 

pro-actively contact high-risk settings to ensure appropriate procedures are in place 
to reduce COVID-19 risk and will convene local outbreak management support. 

The diagram above (Figure 1) outlines the outbreak management process which will be followed within Cheshire 
East. It refers to the regional Public Health England Contact Tracing Hub which is currently in development  and the 
local Cheshire East Test Trace Contain Enable (TTCE) Hub (also in development) which will lead on the management 
of local outbreaks in complex settings. The role of specialist hubs is outlined in more detail within this plan. 

Page 43

https://111.nhs.uk/covid-19/


            

  
 

   
 

 

  

  

  
 

  

  

 

   
 

 

 

  

  

  

   

 

 

  

  

   
   

  

   

  
  

  
  

  
 

  
   

    
 

  
 

    

      

  

  

  

 

    
      

 

            

-12 Chesh re East Counc l COVI  19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 

1.  Initial priority groups identifed (Figure 2) 

Complex settings High risk communities High risk places and locations 

• Hotels currently housing • BAME communities • Early years / childcare 

• 

homeless residents 

Hotels housing refugees and 
asylum seekers 

• 

• 

Domestic abuse victims 

Gypsy & Traveller • 

settings (not covered by 
guidance for schools) 

Public / shared transport 

• Homeless hostels • Homeless • Workplaces (e g construction 

• Learning disability supported 
living 

• 

• 

Migrant workers 

Refugees and asylum seekers 

sites, food businesses, 
including restaurants, pubs, 
meat processing and 

• 

• 

• 

Extra Care housing 

Mental Health residential 
settings 

Secure residential facilities 

• 

• 

• 

Sex workers 

Student population 

Substance users 
• 

packing plants, hairdressers 
and beauticians) 

Other well-defined settings 
and gatherings such as 
places of worship / private 

• Youth housing social events 

• 

• 

Probation centres 

Primary Care (GP Surgeries, 

• Houses of Multiple 
Occupation 

dental, optometry, 
pharmacies) 

1.7 Public Health England will interface with the following organisations directly: (Figure 3) 

Organisation Contact Tracing 

• NHS Acute Trusts 

• NHS Community Trusts 

• Police 

• Fire Authority 

• Prisons 

Organisations will conduct contact tracing 
themselves under the direction of Public Health 
England 

Page 44



    

         

     

       
     

      
         

      
      

    

      
          

   

        
    

        
       

    
      

      
      

  

      
       

      
       

           
    

      
     

       
        

     
    

      
     

     

           
                
                 

                
                  
                

                
                
             

                  
                  
               

      
       

     
   

            
                 

              
                   
           

             
                  
              

     
     

       
       

     

   
     

       
       
 

-Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 13 

Section 2: Prevention of COVID-19 
2 0 The role of prevention 

Prevention is the most effective method of stopping 
transmission and outbreaks of COVID-19. Stringent 
attention to social distancing advice regular hand 
washing and effective cleaning should be in place in all 
settings during the COVID-19 pandemic. The following 
section highlights preventative action is key to 
minimising outbreaks within the borough: 

2 1 Preventative action undertaken by Cheshire 
East Council 

Cheshire  ast Councilwill: 

• Continue to ensure that any regional / local sector 
specific guidance is disseminated appropriately 

• Identify contact and engage with a range of complex 
and high-risk settings to determine their level of 
awareness and preparedness in implementing 
preventative measures to ensure that they are 
COVID-secure (i.e. have a COVID-19 risk assessment  
safe systems of work and business continuity 
measures in place) 

• Through setting-specific action cards designed to be 
used by those who have responsibility for an 
individual setting (e.g. head teachers food business 
operators) provide access to key information on how 
to minimise the risk of an outbreak and what to do in 
the event of an outbreak 

• Work with the setting by signposting and/or 
providing advice and support (including specialist 
advice and support as necessary) in accordance with 
the level of assessed risk the size of the 
organisation/setting and existence or otherwise of 
support structures within the setting. 

• Implement a programme of work to identify 
workforce capacity to support outbreak prevention 
and management which will include: 

- mapping the current workforce including 
voluntary sector and establishing management 
and support principles for staff and volunteers 

- developing a suite of training resource 
scenarios with a focus on infection prevention 
and control and outbreak management 

- developing and testing local processes to 
facilitate the rapid identification and 
containment of outbreaks 

- supporting vulnerable local people to get help 
to self-isolate ensuring services meet the needs 
of diverse communities (Section 6) 

• Implement a programme of work to facilitate 
the integration of national, regional and local data 
through the Joint Biosecurity Centre Playbook 
which will assist in: 

- informing assumptions to estimate local testing 
demand in order to scale-up testing capacity 

- developing methods for local testing to ensure a 
swift response which is accessible to the entire 
population 

- supporting an increased demand in testing and 
the rapid identification of outbreaks within high 
risk communities and localities 

• Establish governance structures led by existing 
COVID-19 Health Protection Boards in conjunction 
with local NHS and supported by existing Gold 
command forums and a new member-led Board to 
communicate with the general public 

• Proactively support national communications 
through a local COVID-19 Communications Plan 

• Keep this plan under regular review to ensure 
that is captures joint operational learning and shares 
best practice 

Page 45



            

      

         
         
        

    
       
      

         
  

         
          

       
      

      
     

      
       

     
    
    

 

        
      

     
          
       

   

         
     

         
   

        
        

        
      

         
    

      
       

       
 

      

      
    

 

      

      
        

  

       
         

    

          
  

      
         

 

       
     

         
       

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-
-

14 Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 

2 2 Preventative action undertaken by employers 

It is important for employers to continue to protect the 
health and safety both of their workers and of other 
people who may be affected by their business for 
example agency workers contractors volunteers  
customers suppliers and other visitors. To help 
employers and the self employed national guidance has 
been developed on the 5 steps for working safely along 
with sector specific guidance. 

It is important to follow national guidance to help to 
reduce the risk of a spread of infection in the workplace. 
Employers must continue to follow health and safety 
workplace guidance for their sector such as: 

• making every reasonable effort to enable working 
from home as a first option 

• where working from home isn’t possible identifying 
sensible measures to control the risks in the 
workplace 

• keeping the workplace clean maintaining safe 
working separation and preventing transmission 
through unnecessary touching of potentially 
contaminated surfaces 

The measures employers put in place to maintain social 
distancing will depend on their individual business 
circumstances including their working environment the 
size of the site and the number of workers. The guidance 
will support employers to make an informed decision. 

2 2 1 COVID 19 risk assessment 

COVID 19 is a new risk that must be incorporated into 
workplace risk assessments. Employers must therefore 
carry out a new COVID 19 risk assessment if they have 
not already done so. 

Employers have a duty to consult their workers and 
unions where applicable as part of their risk assessment. 
Involving workers in this will help build trust and 
confidence that all reasonably practicable steps are 

being taken to reduce risks of COVID 19 so that people 
can return to work safely. 

Employers should share the risk assessment with 
workers and consider publishing the risk assessment on 
their website. Examples of measures that businesses can 
implement include: 

• Adhere to COVID 19 guidance for your particular 
setting 

• Pro actively maintain a risk assessment approach to 
preventing COVID 19 in your setting 

• Limit visitors 

• Use of social distancing floor markings barriers 

• Shift and service managers may consider proactively 
asking staff if they are symptomatic at the beginning 
of a shift 

• While at work staff should follow social distancing 
measures to the best of their ability including in staff 
spaces such as break rooms 

• Where premises are part of a group try to limit staff 
movement between facilities 

• If possible consider limiting staff movements within 
facilities e.g. individual staff only work on one floor of 
a facility 

• Increase the frequency and intensity of cleaning for 
all areas focusing on shared spaces 

• Maintain an accurate daily list of all staff and visitors 
to the premises with in and out times 

Page 46



      

         

    

          
       
         
       

       
     
       

        
     

       

         
      

          
           

           
        

        
          
        

        
         

        
         
       

        
        

        
      

        
         

       
        

       

       

       
     
     

      
     

   

     
      
        

       
       

     
   

 

             
   

      
   

   

   

      
            

-Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 15 

Section 3: Identifcation and notifcation of an Outbreak 

3 0 Identifying a COVID-19 outbreak 

An outbreak is defined as 2 or more cases who have 
tested positive for COVID-19 within the same 14-day 
period in people who either work or have visited a 
setting. Local surveillance data may also identify 
multiple cases within specific communities or clusters of 
outbreaks with localities requiring a coordinated 
response. In residential care homes an outbreak is 
defined as 2 or more symptomatic cases (or laboratory 
confirmed) within the same 14-day period. 

3 1 NHS Test, Trace, Contain and Enable service 

The NHS Test Trace Contain and Enable service forms a 
central part of the government’s COVID-19 recovery 
strategy which seeks to return life to as close to normal 
as possible for as many people as possible in a way that 
is safe and protects the NHS and social care. If an 
employee client / service user resident or visitor tests 
positive for COVID-19 the NHS Test Trace Contain and 
Enable service will help to identify people at high risk of 
having been exposed to the virus through recent close 
contact. It will alert those contacts who meet defined 
risk criteria based on the proximity and duration of the 
contact they’ve had and provide advice on what steps 
to take. This will include being informed to self-isolate or 
in certain circumstances require contacts to be tested. 

If contact tracing and subsequent testing identifies 2 or 
more cases of COVID-19 from a specific workplace or 
setting the NHS Test Trace Contain and Enable service 
will activate the outbreak notification process. An 
assessment will be made by Public Health England who 
will escalate for information or for action. Details of the 
outbreak will be forwarded to the Infection Prevention 
and Control Team Single Point of Contact operated by 
Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Trust. 

3 2 Identifcation of an outbreak by other means 

COVID-19 Outbreaks may also be recognised by a 
setting service provider Microbiology or Virology 
service Infection Prevention and Control Team  
Environmental Health or other Council service area  
voluntary organisation Public Health England or 
through local surveillance data. 

Other complex and high-risk settings including 
workplaces, are requested to notify the Infection 
Prevention and Control Team as soon as they are 
aware of 2 laboratory confrmed caseswithin a 
1 -day period linkedwith their setting unless they 
have already been contacted and received 
telephone advice or support. 

Figure 4 

To report a suspected outbreak within a setting or service will contact Cheshire East 
Single Point of Contact: 

Infection, Prevention and ControlTeam Cheshire and 
Wirral Partnership NHSTrust 

Telephone: 01244 397700 Email: cwp ipct admin@nhs net 

After 5pm/weekends/bank holidays contact: 

Public Health England NW Health ProtectionTeam 
Telephone: 0151 434 4819 and ask to speak to the dedicated on-call for COVID-19 

Page 47

mailto:Email:cwp.ipct.admin@nhs.net
http:willactivatetheoutbreaknotificationprocess.An


            

  

        
      

       
       

        

       

       
  

        
     

       

       
        

     
      

       
         

       
  

     
      

        
 

       
   

      
   

        
         

        

       
 

            
     

      
       

     
        

        

        
    

       
    

       
     

   

     
   

 

 

        

       

       
       

-16 Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 

3 3 Escalation process 

The Infection Prevention and Control Team will make an 
assessment as to whether they will: 

• Lead the management of an outbreak (Public Health 
England may convene an Outbreak Control Team for 
an outbreak within a care home or school); or; 

• Cheshire East Test Trace Contain Enable (TTCE) Hub. 

The Cheshire East Test Trace Contain Enable (TTCE) 
Hub will either: 

• Allocate one of the officers within the Hub (for 
example Environmental Health Officer) to liaise 
directly with the setting / service; 

• Request the relevant named single point of contact 
to liaise directly with the setting / service; or 

• Convene a local multi-disciplinary Outbreak Control 
Team to lead the investigation management and 
containment of the outbreak. Terms of reference 
(TOR) should be agreed upon at the first meeting of 
the Outbreak Control Team and should be reviewed 
at regular intervals. 

In making this assessment, the Infection 
Prevention and Control Team and Cheshire East 
Test Trace Contain Enable (TTCE) Hub will consider 
the following: 

• A large number of contacts meeting the proximity 
or direct contact definition; 

• High numbers of vulnerable people as potential 
contacts within the setting; 

• Settings where there is risk of potential impact on 
service delivery if staff are excluded for 14 days from 
exposure; 

• Death or severe illness reported in the case or 
contacts; 

• Significant likelihood of media or political interest in 
the situation. 

3 4 Criteria for escalation from Public Health 
England NW to local authority 

In certain circumstances, Public Health England in 
consultation with the Director of Public Health, may 
decide to convene a multi-disciplinary Outbreak 
Control Team  In making an assessment, the following 
criteria for escalation will be taken into consideration: 

• Large number of contacts are likely to meet the 
proximity or direct contact definition; 

• High numbers of vulnerable people are identified as 
potential contacts within the setting; 

• Potential impact on service delivery if staff are 
excluded for 14 days from exposure 

• Significant consequence management concerns; 

• Concerns around support needs of potentially 
vulnerable individual or household; 

• Outbreak declared; 

• Healthcare setting; 

• Death or severe illness reported in the case or 
contacts; 

• Significant likelihood of media or political interest in 
situation. 

This consideration will be applied in all instances  
whether escalation is ‘for action’ or ‘for information.’ 

Page 48



         

  

   

         
        

        
        
       

       

       
    

      
  

  

  

    

  

  

 

      

   

   

     
     

  

  

     

    
  

     

   

    

  

  

  

    

 

   

   

     

       
          

          
        

       
          

     

        
  

       
     

     
 

       
       

        
         

       
      

  

-Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 17 

Section 4: Outbreak Management 

4 0 Outbreak Management 

If multiple cases of coronavirus appear in a setting an 
Outbreak Control Team from either the local authority or 
Public Health England will if necessary be assigned to 
help the setting manage the outbreak. Settings should 
seek advice from the Infection Prevention and Control 
Team in the first instance (figure 4). 

Members of the Local Cheshire East Test Trace 
Contain Enable (TTCE) Hub include: 

• Local Authority Director of Public Health (or 
nominated deputy); 

• Public Health Consultant; 

• Public Health Practitioner; 

• Infection Prevention and Control Nurse; 

• Environmental Health Practitioner; 

• Communications Manager; 

• Administrative Support; 

• Relevant institution / setting e.g. School University  
Business; 

• Data intelligence officer. 

Additional Members as required: 

• Public Health England Consultant in Communicable 
Disease Control/Consultant in Health Protection or 
Consultant Epidemiologist; 

• Consultant Microbiologist /Virologist; 

• Public Health England Consultant Epidemiologist; 

• Public Health England Health Protection 
Surveillance/Information Officer; 

• Public Health England Data Analyst/Statistician; 

• Clinical Commissioning Group Representative; 

• North West Ambulance Service; 

• General Practitioner; 

• Consultant Physician; 

• Immunisation co-ordinator; 

• Local Pharmaceutical Committee Representative; 

• Legal Adviser; 

• Health & Safety Executive; 

• Care Quality Commission; 

• Ofsted. 

4 1 Contact tracing – symptomatic person 

When someone first develops symptoms and orders a 
test via NHS 111 they will be encouraged to alert the 
people that they have had close contact with in the 48 
hours before symptom onset. If any of those close 
contacts are co-workers the person who has developed 
symptoms may wish to (but is not obliged to) ask their 
employer to alert those co-workers. 

At this stage, those close contacts should not self-
isolate, but they: 

• must avoid individuals who are at high-risk of 
contracting COVID-19 for example because they 
have pre-existing medical conditions such as 
respiratory issues. 

• must take extra care in practicing social distancing 
and good hygiene and in watching out for 
symptoms. 

• will be better prepared if the person who has 
symptoms has a positive test result and if they (the 
contact) receive a notification from the NHS Test  
Trace Contain and Enable service explaining they 
need to self-isolate. 

Page 49



            

     

         
        

       
          

        
       

       
       

         
 

          

     

      

          

       
        

        
        

         
 

         
        
     

         
   

          
          

       
        

       
         

        
       

       
       

 

       
      

      

         
      
      

     

        
       

        
        
         

       
          
      

       
       
    
     

       

      
     
         

  

      
     

  

       

        
 

    

-

–

-
-

-

-

-

18 Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 

4 2 Contact tracing confrmed case 

If the person who has symptoms has a positive test 
result for COVID-19, the NHS Test, Trace, Contain and 
Enable service will ask them to share information 
about their close recent contacts  If they work in, or 
have recently visited or attended one of the following 
settings, the contact tracing process will be escalated 
to the Infection Prevention and Control Team or 
Cheshire East Test Trace Contain Enable (TTCE) Hub, 
who will liaise as necessary with the manager of the 
relevant setting: 

• a health or care setting for instance a hospital or care 
home; 

• a prison or other secure establishment; 

• a school for children with special needs; 

• any setting where there is a risk of a local outbreak. 

In other cases any non household contacts who need 
to self isolate will be contacted by the NHS Test  
Trace Contain and Enable service. They will receive a 
formal notification (either a phone call letter email or 
text message) setting out how long they need to self 
isolate for. 

The period of self-isolationwill be for 1 days from 
the point ofmost recent contact with the person 
who has tested positive for coronavirus. 

4 3 Actions to be taken by Cheshire East Test Trace 
Contain Enable (TTCE) Hub 

The criteria to declare a cluster / outbreak and the criteria 
to end an outbreak varies depending upon the setting. 

The Infection Prevention Control Team / Cheshire East 
Test Trace Contain Enable (TTCE) Hub will work with 
the setting to undertake a COVID-19 risk assessment 
and put appropriate interventions in place  In order to 
establish key facts and inform the decision to declare 
an outbreak the following steps may be undertaken: 

• Initial investigation to clarify the nature of the 
outbreak should begin within 24 hours of receiving 
initial report; 

• Confirm the validity of the initial information upon 
which the potential outbreak is based (including 
ascertainment bias; the possibility of false positives 
etc); 

• Assign an individual to liaise directly with the setting / 
service or convene a local multi disciplinary Outbreak 
Control Team to lead the investigation management 
and containment of the outbreak; 

• Work with the setting to identify all persons who 
could be a contact of the case; 

• Identify all people who have had contact with the 
confirmed case from 48 hours before onset of their 
symptoms to 7 days after onset of symptoms. (NB If 
the case was asymptomatic identify all the people 
who have had contact 48 hours before their test to 7 
days after date of their test); 

• Note that in a setting where Personal Protective 
Equipment is routinely used any person who wore 
appropriate Personal Protective Equipment or 
maintained appropriate social distancing (over 2 
metres) would not be classed as a contact; 

• Conduct preliminary interviews with initial cases to 
gather basic information including any common 
factors; this may be done by Public Health England or 
local contact tracers; 

• Where appropriate arrange testing of contacts or 
signpost to the national testing website; 

• Form preliminary hypothesis; 

• Consider the likelihood of a continuing public health 
risk; 

• Carry out an initial risk assessment to guide the 
decision making process; 

• Initiate vulnerable people support processes. 

Page 50



Cheshire East Council COVID-19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 19

In Cheshire East, the following testing routes
are available:

•    Pillar 1 NHS rapid hospital-based testing
for the most urgent cases.

•    Pillar 1 Lab testing, with swabs analysed in local
NHS and Public Health England labs.

•    Pillar 2 Commercial testing,with swabs
analysed in national mega-labs.

•    Pillar 3 Antibody testing to help
understand the proportion of the population
who have been infected. (Antibody testing is
not used to manage outbreaks so is not
discussed further here).

4.4 Actions to be taken by setting

• Immediate control measures should be
implemented. It is not necessary to wait for the
outcome of a test result in order to act;

• As soon as it becomes apparent that an outbreak
may exist, immediate communication between the
setting and the Infection Prevention and Control
Single Point of Contact is essential.  After 5pm,
weekends and bank holidays contact Public Health
England North West;

• Identify an Infection Control Lead in the setting -
suggested experience: Occupational health, health
and safety, risk manager, business manager;

• Employers should encourage workers to heed any
notifications to self-isolate and provide support to
these individuals when in isolation;

• Employers/Managers should continue to
communicate with workers/clients in self-isolation
and provide support;

• Agree content of advice to provide to rest of the
workforce, visitors or residents.

4.5 Other actions to assist employees

• Employers should support people to work from
home if they remain well and they can;

• If people cannot work from home, employers must
ensure any self-isolating employee is receiving sick
pay and or use their paid leave days if they prefer.
Further guidance is available for employees if they
cannot work;

• Employees in self-isolation are entitled to Statutory
Sick Pay for every day they are in isolation, as long as
they meet the eligibility conditions;

• The NHS Test, Trace, Contain and Enable service will
provide a notification that can be used as evidence
that someone has been told to self-isolate.

4.6 Arranging testing: cases and contacts

National policy identifies five pillars for COVID-19 testing
as shown in Figure 5. These cover both antigen and
antibody testing across patients, health professionals, key
workers and other population groups.

Figure 5: National COVID-19 testing strategy:

Page 51



            

              
               

             
              

    

       
          

        
      
        

          
       

          
       

          
       

        
       

        
      

       
       

        
       

       
        

        
       

  
          

      
         

      
   

            
   

             
    

              
    

  

              
     
 

           
     

           

            
     

     
     

             
      

     
 

            
        

     

        

- 0 Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 

The Test Trace Contain and Enable Programme uses 
data from Pillar 1 and 2 testing to identify cases of 
COVID-19 infection. Pillar 1 testing is used for hospital 
patients (including those being discharged to care 
homes) A&E staff and hospital staff caring for COVID-
19 patients. Spare Pillar 1 capacity may also be used to 
test care home staff and residents during outbreaks. 

During July 2020 it is anticipated that there will be a 
monthly capacity of 13 150 swabs within Cheshire 
East. 11 600 of these tests will be available at pop-up 
Mobile Testing Units at designated sites across the 
borough and 1550 swabs at a Satellite Testing Centre 
at Mid Cheshire NHS Hospital Trust. Residents of 
Cheshire East are also able to access testing outside 
the borough including the Regional Testing Centres 

at Haydock Park and Liverpool Airport. The most 
recent figures available in June 2020 indicate that 
currently only about a third of testing capacity is 
being used across Cheshire and Merseyside. As the 
Test Trace Contain and Enable Programme is rolled 
out testing resources across the local system will be 
deployed to meet the need for testing in care 
communities with spare capacity used to respond to 
outbreaks. There are 
also plans to create a ‘swab squad’ of testers who can 
be deployed in response to community outbreaks 
and to groups who may have less access to the 
overall testing offer such as people receiving 
domiciliary care. 

The Cheshire and Merseyside Health Care Partnership Testing Task and Finish Group has developed a 
prioritisation strategy which will be required as the demand for testing increases as lockdown is eased 
and the Test, Trace, Contain and Enable Programme is fully implemented  Testing prioritisation will 
become possible as testing capacity is brought under local control  The strategy proposes that testing 
resources are prioritised as follows: 

1  NHS Patients Care Home residents Vulnerable 6  Anyone else who is symptomatic 
cohorts who are symptomatic. 

7  Routine testing of the most vulnerable 
2  Symptomatic NHS and Social Care Staff and hospital patients and care home residents 

/or their symptomatic household members. even if asymptomatic as a preventative 
measure to reduce risk of outbreaks. 

3  All those being admitted to a Hospital or 
Residential setting with vulnerable residents 8  Routine testing of front-line health & social 
even if asymptomatic. care workers and other agreed essential key 

workers even if asymptomatic as a 
4  All those in vulnerable settings in an Outbreak preventative measure. 

situation and those affected under local 
Outbreak arrangements. 9  Individuals identified through TTCE who may 

be at risk having been in contact with a 
5  Key symptomatic workers in Schools  known COVID-19 positive case even if 

Emergency Services & other essential services. asymptomatic. 

10  Anyone else not listed above. 

Page 52



         

     
         

     

    
 

    
     

   

      

        
    

     

       
 

  

        
   

     
    

    

    

     
     

        
        

        
        

      
        

        
        

        
       

       
       

       
     

       

-Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan  1 

4 7 Additional action to support the 
organisational setting 

• Identify workforce development needs / implement 
training; 

• Basic COVID-19 awareness – transmission  
symptoms epidemiology; 

• Contact tracing principles ethics information 
governance and data collection 

• Understanding the testing offer/s; 

• Current advice and support to those self-isolating; 

• Role of The NHS Test Trace Contain and Enable 
service and local outbreak control; 

• How to manage an outbreak; 

• Information for staff not deemed to be contacts  
reassurance 

4 8 Training considerations 

• Make use of local expertise – e.g. Super trainers  
Environmental Health Officers Infection 
Prevention and Control Public Health Tuberculosis 
nurses Primary Care Secondary Care 

• Signpost to online resources; 

• Quality assure and evaluate training. 

4 9 Managing the deployment of broader 
resourcing and local testing capacity 

The Council may need to arrange for the rapid 
deployment of mobile testing units to assist in the 
management of a local outbreak. This may require 
activity across a range of partners and existing Gold 
command forums will provide the means of 
coordinating that action. The Council will also work 
closely with the Joint Biosecurity Centre which has the 
role of bringing together data from testing and contact 
tracing alongside other NHS and public data to provide 
insight into local and national patterns of transmission 
and potential high-risk locations and to identify early 
potential outbreaks so action can be taken. 

The Joint Biosecurity Centre will shortly be issuing 
further information about how local movement 
restrictions may need to be increased if infections 
increase. 

Page 53



            

      

         

        
        

      
          

      
       

    

       
        

        
       

   

          
      

     

     

        
       

       
          

         
  

 

         
      
      

        
       

      
    

     
     

       
    

       
       

  

  

        
 

      

       

      

     
 

  

       
        

       
       

     

     
       

      
       

     
 

-   Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 

Section 5: Declaring the end of an Outbreak 

5 1 Declaring the end of an outbreak 

It is important that there is continued vigilance for 
new potential cases as well as adherence to infection 
prevention and control principles once the outbreak 
is over to reduce the chance of a further outbreak in 
the home. The Community infection control team 
may monitor the outbreak until the outbreak is 
declared over by the team. 

The Outbreak Control Team will decide when the 
outbreak can be considered over and will make a 
statement to this effect. The decision to declare the 
outbreak over should be informed by ongoing risk 
assessment and considered when: 

a  there is no longer a risk to the public health that 
requires an Outbreak Control Team to conduct 
further investigation or to manage control 
measures; 

b  the number of cases has declined; 

The outbreak will be declared over when there have 
been no new cases of confirmed or suspected 
COVID-19 within a continuous 14-day period (28 days 
in the event of a residential care home). The criteria to 
declare a cluster / outbreak and criteria to end varies 
depending upon setting. 

5 2 Communication 

The chair should ensure that minutes are taken at all 
meetings of the Outbreak Control Team and 
circulated to participating agencies in a timely 
fashion. All key decisions should be recorded and the 
minute-taker is accountable to the chair for this 
function. 

To ensure the appropriate dissemination of critical 
information within relevant organisations standard 
communications protocols should be followed. A 
communications strategy for informing the public 
and key stakeholders should be discussed and agreed 
at the Outbreak Control Team. 

Key information needs to be agreed with and 
shared with the setting where the outbreak has 
occurred  This includes: 

• Advice on cleaning; 

• Agreeing content of daily email to be returned on 
staff sickness; 

• Advice for staff who have been contacts; 

• Advice for staff who have not been contacts; 

• Warning notice if non-compliance is an issue; 

• Advice on financial issues including statutory 
sick pay. 

5 3 Legal issues 

Public Health England (PHE) is the national public 
health agency which fulfils the Secretary of State for 
Health’s statutory duty to protect health and address 
inequalities and executes his power to promote the 
health and wellbeing of the nation. 

All organisations represented on an outbreak 
control team have different legal powers and duties. 
Any discussions regarding legal issues in response 
to an outbreak should be discussed with relevant 
legal representatives of the organisations involved 
where required. 

Page 54



If you are vulnerable and need help, telephone 0300 123 5034

Open 8.30 am to 5pm and 24 hours for urgent requests

Or by visiting the Council’s website and filling in a form
The Deafness Support Network is providing a relay service to people who

cannot use the telephone. 

Contact: 07786 200547 (text only) or email: dsn@dsnonline.co.uk

or visit www.dsnonline.co.uk

Section 6: Support to vulnerable people

Cheshire East Council COVID-19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 23

In any event, practical or social support needs will be referred to the Council’s dedicated hotline:

6.0 Provision of support for vulnerable people 
       required to self-isolate

It is anticipated that most people will be able to self-
isolate for the maximum two-week period without any
support. However, where a person who has been
advised to self-isolate needs practical or social support
for themselves or someone they care for, they will be
directed to the Council for help with food or medicine
deliveries.  Cheshire East Council have a well-established
‘People helping People’ service which has been further

developed to provide support for vulnerable people
required to self-isolate.  

It is anticipated that majority of people who require help
will be identified via the national NHS Test, Trace, Contain
and Enable service and referred to the Council. There
may also be circumstances whereby an individual’s
needs are identified through local contact tracing. In any
event, practical or social support needs will be referred
to the Council’s dedicated hotline:

6.1     Resources for vulnerable people 

• More local information about how the Council can
support you during the Coronavirus can be found on
the Council’s website https://www.cheshireeast.
gov.uk/council_and_democracy/council_informati
on/coronavirus/coronavirus-covid-19.aspx 

• Our Public Health Team have created a booklet of
information and things for you to try at home:
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/covid-
19/coronavirus-advice-booklet-v2.pdf 

• The Council have identified information about Covid-
19 and how you can look after yourself during this
pandemic: https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/
livewell/campaigns/covid-19-your-health-and-
well-being.aspx 

This includes: 

- People who are ‘shielding’  

- People helping People – Volunteering support

- Homelessness and Housing

- Adult Social Care

- Direct Payments

- Carers Support

-     Guidance on mental health and wellbeing 

-     Support for victims of domestic abuse

-     Veteran Support

-     Children and Young People

-     Care Leavers

Page 55



            

     
          

       
      

          
         

       
        

       
      

     
        

         
      

        
     

       
       

      

  

 

     

     
     

 

       
   

       
 

 

     

      
        

      
         

         
      

    

       
      

      
        

       
  

       

 

        
        

 

      
      

        
      

   
       

      

-

–

-

- -

-

-

 4 Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 

6 2 National NHS Volunteer Responder 
Programme Referral scheme 

NHS Volunteer Responders have been mobilised to help 
support vulnerable individuals who are self isolating. The 
priority will be given to those identified as most at risk 
from COVID 19 and asked to self isolate at home for an 
extended period and to those who health practitioners 
and local authorities consider to be vulnerable. NHS 
Volunteer Responders can be asked to help individuals 
with tasks such as delivering medicines from 
pharmacies driving patients to appointments bringing 
them home from hospital and make regular phone calls 
to check that the individuals they are supporting are ok. 
Volunteers receive role specific training where required. 
Referrals for volunteer support can be made by the 
following health and care professionals: 

• GPs / social prescribing link workers / practice 
nurses concerned about an at risk or vulnerable 
individual they have advised to self isolate; 

• Hospital discharge teams; 

• Community pharmacists; 

• NHS 111 and ambulance trusts; 

• Community health trusts that need volunteer 
support for patients leaving hospital; 

• Local authorities. 

Referrals for volunteer support can be made in 
the following ways: 

1  Directly to the NHS Volunteer Support Responder’s 
referrers’portal 
https://www goodsamapp org/NHSreferral; or 

2  By telephoning 0808 196 3382  

Please note that NHS Volunteer Responder Programme 
is being managed nationally and is not intended to 
replace local groups helping their vulnerable neighbours 
but is an additional service provided by the NHS where 
informal support is not available or easily linked to by 
health and social care professionals. 

6 2 People wishing to volunteer 

Cheshire East Council in partnership with Cheshire East 
Social Action Partnership and the voluntary and 
community sector have launched an online form 
on the Council website for people to register an 
interest in volunteering to support in the Covid 19 
emergency response. 

To register an interest visit the Council’s webpage: 
https://www cheshireeast gov uk/ 
council_and_democracy/council_information/corona 
virus/cheshire-east-people-helping-people aspx 

Currently there are over 2000 people on the volunteer 
database which is held and managed by the Social 
Action Partnerhip. 

6 3 Organisations wishing to access volunteer 
support 

Requests for volunteer support can be made by any 
trusted organisation to the Social Action Partnership 
https://www cesap org uk Cheshire East Social Action 
Partnership will then match suitable individuals from the 
volunteer database with the requesting organisation. 

Page 56

https://www.cesap.org.uk
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk
https://www.goodsamapp.org/NHSreferral


   

         

  

        
       

       
         

         
      

   

  

          
      

        
        

         
         

        
          

      
       

       
      

      
         

         
      

      
 

     
       

        
      

        
        

       
      

      
      

     
       

       
    

      
     

         
     

       
         
        
      

        
      

       
  

     

       
          

     

-Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan  5 

Section 7: Data management 

7 0 Data management 

It is vital for the local response to outbreak 
management to be intelligence led. This will be 
enabled by ensuring that national and local systems 
are set up in the most effective manner to share 
information in a timely way to make it possible to 
quickly respond to hotspots and prevent outbreaks 
before they occur. 

7 1 Data fow 

It is in all our interests to avoid both a damaging 
national second peak requiring a national lockdown  
and also local lockdowns which should be a last 
resort. The national Joint Biosecurity Centre (JBC) will 
play a key role in informing decisions about local and 
national lockdowns. At the time of writing it is 
envisaged that that the JBC will sit within the 
Department of Health and Social Care. It will build on 
and complement existing reports seeking to pull 
together the 10+ disparate products that Directors of 
Public Health are receiving from various sources into 
one succinct and regularly produced summary to 
inform and enable effective local decision making. 
The JBC is planned to be at full operating capability 
by the end of summer and will provide timely local 
data and early warning indicators on clusters  
alongside feedback on the effectiveness of local 
interventions. 

Nationally regionally and locally processes around 
data flow are currently being worked through and 
developed. Currently we can access a range of 
summary level data from public facing sources 
and data that government is sharing with us via 
dashboards. In addition we are exploring how we 
might access real time data on individual positive 
tests that will support outbreak planning and 
response both at operational and strategic levels. 
We are collaborating with our local Clinical 
Commissioning Group the other beacon councils 
and the Joint Biosecurity Centre to ensure that 
processes around data flow fit for purpose and 
relevant to local needs. 

The Council is experienced in building case 
management systems and is currently considering 
what a local system needs to look like for Cheshire 
East. In addition Cheshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group has an analytics platform that can interrogate 
and visualise data on test results at an individual level. 
This will enable us to monitor real time outbreaks  
map hotpots and understand local outbreak nuances 
and triggers. We are working closely with Intelligence 
Analysts at the Clinical Commissioning Group to 
better understand the true potential of this exciting 
system. 

7 2 Data Protection Impact Assessment 

A full Data Protection Impact assessment has been 
drafted in parallel to this plan. The assessment will be 
kept under regular review. 

Page 57



    

        
       

       
    

 

     

        
      

        
 

      

     
      
  

     

     
     

     
     

 

   

      
       

      
       

  

        
    

      
     

      
      

   

    

    
     

       
   

  

         
      

   

    
   

  

            

              
             

         

- 6 Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 

Section 8: Governance 

A COVID-1  Health Protection Board (HPB) has been established to provide assurance to the Health 
and Wellbeing Board and COVID-1  Local Outbreak Engagement Board about the adequacy of prevention, 
surveillance, planning and response with regard to COVID-1 . 

8 1 COVID-19 Health Protection Board 

A COVID-19 Health Protection Board is in the process 
of being established to provide assurance to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board about the adequacy of 
prevention surveillance planning and response 
regarding COVID-19. 

The Board will have responsibility for: 

• Ensuring that plans are in place to protect the 
health of the population of Cheshire East 
and will do this by receiving update reports from 
partner organisations 

• Monitoring the incidence of COVID-19 in the 
community 

• Monitoring outbreaks in complex settings high 
risk communities and high-risk places / locations  
and local response 

• Monitoring local testing capacity and demand 

• Scrutinising action plans developed to prevent 
and respond to outbreaks of COVID-19 

• When available monitoring the uptake of 
immunisations / treatment of COVID-19 (currently 
in development) 

Operationally, the Board will: 

• Ensure that decisions for the management of 
outbreaks in Cheshire East are taken with evidence 
provided by the professional experts that attend 
the Cheshire East Test Trace Contain Enable (TTCE) 
Hub 

• Have assurance that the systems are in place to 
manage outbreaks within Cheshire East 

• Be provided with the relevant data and 
intelligence that allows effective decision making 

• Have assurance that local partners have health 
protection plans risks and their mitigation and 
opportunities for joint action. 

• Review and challenge outbreak management 
systems 

• Provide recommendations to Cabinet and 
assurance to the Cheshire East Health 
and Wellbeing Board that there are safe and 
effective COVID-19 health protection 
arrangements and plans 

• Seek legal advice if Public Health Powers are to be 
implemented through the relevant duties that the 
Local Authority can apply 

• Deliver effective communications of any 
recommendations to manage outbreaks. 

Page 58



 

         
         

 

     
        

      
        

      
       

       
     

        
       
       

     

       
        

       

       
       

         
     

     

       
      

     

       
      

     
 

        
       
       

        
       

      
       

    

         -Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan  7 

Operational arrangements: 

• The Board will be an operational Board and for the 
avoidance of doubt is not a public nor a decision-
making meeting. 

• Recommendations from the Board will be 
provided to Cabinet. Where there is a need to 
escalate concerns to the Cabinet more urgently  
this will be done through the Chief Executive and 
Director of Public Health or their nominated 
deputy. Any significant decisions for the Council 
will be taken via Cabinet and Council as 
appropriate under urgent powers if necessary. 

• A summary of the action notes from the COVID-19 
Health Protection Board will be provided to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board on an occasional basis 
through the Director of Public Health. 

• Capacity will be identified through the Office of 
the Director of Public Health to take minutes and 
distribute papers if relevant or appropriate. 

• Timing and frequency of Board meetings will be 
determined by the Board itself. Board meetings 
can be convened at any stage to deal with urgent 
developments by agreement between the Chief 
Executive and Director of Public Health. 

• The COVID-19 Health Protection Board will have a 
standard agenda unless specific issues relating to 
an Outbreak are to be determined. 

• The Board is accountable to Cabinet and 
will report concerns to the Local Outbreak 
Engagement Board and the Health and 
Wellbeing Board 

• In the event decisions within the normal scope of 
the Board’s business are required at short notice 
due to an Outbreak so as necessitating prompt 
action such action shall ultimately be made by the 
Chief Executive Leader of the Council and Director 
of Public Health (or their nominated deputies) 
jointly with such decisions being reported to the 
Board at the next meeting. 

Page 59



8.1 Governance process map
A comprehensive governance map is provided below (Figure 7):

28   Cheshire East Council COVID-19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan
Page 60



         

    

       
       
        

        
       

           

         

     
     

      
       

      
 

      
       

   

         
     
       

  

  

       

        
      

         

      
     

        
        
     

         
     

      
 

        
     

     

      
    

  

      
     

 

      
     

      
       

     
  

        
       

     

       
     

      
     

       
        

        
       
    

       
       

   

      
   

  

       
       
        

       
        
      

        
      
   

-Chesh re East Counc l COVI  19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 29 

8.2 Local Outbreak  ngagement Board 

A cross-party Outbreak Board, chaired by the Council 
Leader will be established shortly subject to Cabinet 
approval. This will provide political oversight of local 
delivery of the NHS Test, Trace, Contain and Enable 
service, will lead engagement with communities and be 
the public face of the local response in the event of an 
outbreak. 

The initial priority activities of the Boar  will be to: 

• support and help strengthen a specific 
communication and engagement plan, which will 
ensure that all sectors and communities are 
communicated with effectively and that as a result 
any required behaviours are adopted by individuals 
and organisations. 

• provide public oversight of the implementation of 
the Test, Trace, Contain programme in the borough’s 
response to the pandemic. 

The Board is not a public or decision making meeting, 
but will provide recommendations to Cabinet 
and assurance to the Cheshire East Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 

The Boar  will: 

- Oversee the delivery of the Outbreak Management 
Plan 

- Advise on policy development in respect of the 
response to outbreaks, for consideration by Cabinet, 
the Chief Executive or the Director of Public Health as 
appropriate 

- Oversee the communication plan for outbreak 
prevention and management, and support the 
Leader of the Council and the Director of Public 
Health in their role as principal spokespersons for the 
Council in respect of outbreak response 

- Advise the Leader of the Council in respect of 
collaborative arrangements with other Cheshire and 
regional authorities and matters for escalation to 
national government 

- Represent the public and key stakeholders in the 
implementation of the outbreak prevention and 
management response to the pandemic 

- Support the effective communication of the 
outbreak prevention and management programme 
for the borough 

- Provide public oversight of progress on the 
implementation of the outbreak prevention and 
management programme 

- Support and strengthen the communication and 
engagement plan that will underpin the 
decision-making process through the next stage of 
managing the pandemic, helping to make sure that 
all communities and sectors are communicated 
with effectively 

- Help ensure that all key stakeholders have been 
identified and that the best routes to communicate 
and engage with them are utilised 

- Oversee the evaluation of the communication and 
engagement plan, measuring success through the 
successful adoption of the required behaviours by 
individuals and organisations across the borough 

- Receive regular updates from the COVID-1  Health 
Protection Board via the Director of Public Health 

- Ensure that the appropriate plans build on existing 
good practice and that lessons learned from other 
areas are taken into account 

- Identify any barriers to progress and delivery and 
help resolve them, making the most of any 
opportunities that may arise 

- To deliver effective communications of any 
recommendations to manage outbreaks 

8.3 Sub-Regional Governance 

Cheshire East Council will continue to collaborate closely 
with partners via the Local Resilience Forum, ensuring 
that local Test, Trace, Contain and Enable systems are 
aligned and work across borders. The Council will 
continue to work with partners via CHAMPS to co-
ordinate work throughout the Cheshire and Merseyside 
region. The Council will work with Public Health England 
North West to provide outbreak management and 
contact tracing functions. 

Page 61



            

 

     

       
     

       

         
     

         
       

       
          

    

      
 

     
        

    

        
      

         
   

        
   

        
      

        
       

       
       

     
        

       
       

        
         

       

      
      

      
        
          

     
       

        
      

        
 

         
     

      
        

      

      
        

        

      
       

    

    
  

     
    

    
   

   
      
   

      
   

     
   

     
   

    
       

      

  

-30 Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 

Section 9: Communication 

9 0 Cheshire East Council Communications 

Cheshire East Council will continue to actively support 
the national COVID-19 prevention campaign and 
promote national and regionally developed guidance. 

The first part of our Test Trace Contain and Enable 
Communications Strategy is to ‘embed and 
prevent’ – that is to embed the key messages and 
prevent the spread of the virus by encouraging 
compliance and ensuring people know how to self-
report their symptoms how to get a test and when and 
how to self-isolate. 

Our key messages for residents, businesses and 
partners are: 

• Report your coronavirus symptoms by calling 
119 for a test and self-isolate yourself and your 
household to protect the community 

• Play your part and help save lives by self-isolating 
if advised to by a contact tracer 

• The Council will look after you if you are self-isolating 
and classed as vulnerable 

• The Council will protect communities if there is a 
local outbreak of coronavirus 

We will use a wide range of communications channels  
including media releases regular social media posts  
leaflets delivered to every household posters in the city 
and town centres radio and social media advertising. 

In conjunction with local partners the Council will 
undertake wider proactive and preventative work. We 
will communicate with targeted settings and 
communities in order to minimise the risk of and 
prevent future outbreaks. For example we have 
developed a brief questionnaire to help us together 
with the high-risk setting assess how well prepared they 
are so that any gaps can be identified and appropriate 
advice support and assistance offered. 

Our approach will be collaborative and supportive 
based on the established escalation principles of 
Engage Educate Encourage and Enforce only if 
necessary. We will offer advice and other support 
according to the level of assessed risk the size of the 

organisation/setting and existence or otherwise of 
support structures within the setting. In both prevention 
and outbreak management we will always seek the co-
operation of businesses and organisations to minimise 
risk manage outbreaks and prevent the further spread of 
the virus. 

In the event of a localised outbreak within a specific 
setting the Council will co-ordinate local 
communications and engagement with the setting and 
wider community as part of the management of that 
outbreak to protect and inform the community. 

The Council will share communications and best 
practice with local health partners and authorities in the 
collaborative effort to work together to tackle the virus. 

A communication strategy has been developed to 
support Test Trace Contain and Enable and Outbreak 
Management in complex settings. 

Communication objectives: 

• Awareness: Encourage residents to self-report 
their Covid symptoms; 

• Awareness: Public and partners are informed 
when there is an outbreak; 

• Attitude: Self-reporting and self-isolating is 
supporting the whole community; 

• Attitude: Self-reporting and self-isolating 
helps to manage local outbreaks which supports 
wider Covid-1  recovery strands; 

• Attitude:Council and partners are protecting the 
public by managing lockdowns. 

• Action: Increase the number of residents 
contacting NHS to self-report; 

• Action: Increase the number of residents 
observing lockdowns and self-isolating; 

• Action: Businesses and hotspot settings 
working with the Council to prevent an outbreak, 
and in the event of an outbreak. 

Page 62



 

           

    

   

              

 
  

 

       

     
        

    

        
       

         
    

       
      

    

  
   

 

          
     

     
       

       
    

        
       

 

      

  
   

 

        

     
   

     

      

     

     
   

    
     

    

    

      
  

       
  

     

  

  

     

         

–

-Cheshire  ast Council COVID 19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan 31 

Communication spokespeople 

• Cheshire East spokesperson Director of Public Health/Leader of the Council/Chief Executive. 

• Spokesperson for each outbreak setting; 

• Spokesperson for entire region. 

The Test, Trace, Contain and Enable Communications Strategy is structured around the following three phases: 

Phase one: 
Embed and prevent: 

Key messages: 

• Play your part to save lives and livelihoods; 

• Report your coronavirus symptoms by calling 
119 for a test and self-isolate yourself and your 
household to protect the community; 

• Play your part and help save lives by self-
isolating if advised to by a contact tracer; 

• The Council will look after you if you are self-
isolating and classed as vulnerable; 

• The Council will identify high risk settings and 
communities and work with them to provide 
advice to help prevent outbreaks. 

Phase two: 
Communicating local outbreak plan 

Key messages: 

• We will play our part to help save lives with a 
robust local outbreak plan in place; 

• The Council will protect communities and 
businesses if there is a local outbreak of 
coronavirus; 

• The Council will lead the decision making on 
local ‘interventions’and service/facility closures; 

• You can play your part to help prevent local 
‘interventions’by self-isolating if advised to by a 
contact tracer; 

• Reminder of embed and prevent key messages. 

Phase three: 
Communications during a local 
outbreak 

Key messages: 

• Alert that cases are rising – take extra care; 

• Acceleration of testing / tracing asymptomatic 
people e.g. students staff; 

• Closure of certain businesses and venues; 

• Individuals linked to outbreak told to self-isolate; 

• Support and guidance for individuals in 
isolation; 

• Managers continue to communicate with and 
support individuals in isolation; 

• Advice provided to non-isolating workforce  
visitors residents linked to setting; 

• Cancellation of organised events/ large 
gatherings; 

• Closure of outdoor public areas; 

• Inform location of mobile testing units and 
explain testing offer; 

• Changes in schools offer – closures limiting to 
certain year groups; 

• Barring of non-locals from an area; 

• Limiting/closing transport network; 

• Stay at home; 

• Declaring the end of an outbreak. 

Page 63



9.0 CheshireWest andChesterCouncil      
Communications 

Cheshire West and Chester Council will continue to        
actively support the national COVID-1  prevention      
campaign and promote national and regionally      
developed guidance.   

The frst part of our Test, Trace, Contain and Enable          
Communications Strategy is to ‘embed and prevent’       
         
       
       

          
 

     
  

     
        

    

        
       

         
    

        
   

       
     

      
        

  

       
     

      
        

      
       

        
         

      

      
      
      
       
         

     
       

     

– that is, to embed the key messages and prevent 
the spread of the virus by encouraging compliance 
and ensuring people know how to self-report their 
symptoms, how to get a test and when and how to 
self-isolate. 

Ourkeymessages for residents, businesses 
and partners are: 

• Report your coronavirus symptoms by calling 
11  for a test and self-isolate yourself and your 
household to protect the community 

• Playyour part and help save lives by self-
isolating if advised to by a contact tracer 

• The Council will look afteryou if you are self-
isolating and classed as vulnerable 

• The Council will protect communities if there is a 
local outbreak of coronavirus 

We will use a wide range of communications 
channels, including media releases, regular social 
media posts, leafets delivered to every household, 
posters in the city and town centres, radio and 
social media advertising. 

In conjunction with local partners, the Council will 
undertake wider proactive and preventative work. 
We will communicate with targeted settings and 
communities in order to minimise the risk of and 
prevent future outbreaks. For example, we have 
developed a brief questionnaire to help us, together 
with the high risk setting, assess howwell prepared 
they are so that any gaps can be identifed and 
appropriate advice, support and assistance ofered. 

Our approach will be collaborative and supportive 
based on the established escalation principles of 
Engage, Educate, Encourage, and Enforce only if 
necessary. We will ofer advice and other support 
according to the level of assessed risk, the size of 
the organisation/setting and existence or otherwise 
of support structures within the setting. In both 
prevention and outbreak management, we will 

Page 64



                                      
CHESHIRE EAST HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
Reports Cover Sheet

 

Title of Report: COVID 19 – Mental Health impacts, interim findings from Healthwatch surveys.

Date of meeting: 28th July 2020

Written by: Guy Kilminster

Contact details: Guy.kilminster@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Health & Wellbeing 
Board Lead:

Louise Barry

Executive Summary

Is this report for: Information     Discussion   X Decision   

Why is the report being 
brought to the board?

To inform the debate about the mental health impacts of COVID 19 on the 
population of Cheshire East and how best the Cheshire East Health and Care System 
should respond to the challenges this may bring.

Please detail which, if 
any, of the Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy 
priorities this report 
relates to? 

Creating a place that supports health and wellbeing for everyone living in Cheshire 
East 
Improving the mental health and wellbeing of people living and working in Cheshire 
East 
Enable more people to live well for longer  
All of the above X 

Please detail which, if 
any, of the Health & 
Wellbeing Principles this 
report relates to?

Equality and Fairness 
Accessibility 
Integration 
Quality 
Sustainability 
Safeguarding 
All of the above X

Key Actions for the 
Health & Wellbeing 
Board to address. 
Please state 
recommendations for 
action.

To note the preliminary findings of the Healthwatch Cheshire East survey and to 
bear these in mind these when considering and planning the Cheshire East Health 
and Care System’s response to the growing needs of the population.

Has the report been 
considered at any other 
committee meeting of 
the Council/meeting of 
the CCG 
board/stakeholders?

No

Page 65 Agenda Item 9



Has public, service user, 
patient 
feedback/consultation 
informed the 
recommendations of 
this report?

Yes

If recommendations are 
adopted, how will 
residents benefit? 
Detail benefits and 
reasons why they will 
benefit.

Listening to the experiences of residents and considering their needs will be 
important in determining the best way for the Board, commissioners and service 
providers to respond to the impacts of COVID 19 on people’s mental health and 
wellbeing.

1 Report Summary

1.1 The information contained within this paper is taken from interim reports of the findings 
from the Healthwatch Cheshire ‘Health and Wellbeing During Coronavirus’ survey. It is 
based upon the 1,071 responses up to Friday 26th June 2020, of which 518 are from 
Cheshire East. These responses have provided a wealth of rich information, totalling 
1,745 qualitative comments from residents of Cheshire East. This is a short overview of 
the findings from these responses, with more in-depth analysis to come as the situation 
develops. The survey will be ongoing and findings will be reviewed regularly in order to 
provide up to date information to partners. 

1.2 87% of respondents have indicated that there has been some impact upon their mental 
health with 40% of those feeling that they needed support to help them, although a lot of 
this has been sought from friends and family, possibly as a result of concerns regarding 
accessing GP and health services during the pandemic. It is also clear that many of the 
concerns relate to the wider economic impacts of the virus.

Recommendations

2.1 That the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Board note the findings of the Healthwatch 
Survey and consider these as the Board considers the most appropriate way to 
effectively respond to the challenges posed by the COVID 19 outbreak. 

2 Reasons for Recommendations

3.1 To ensure that the experience of the residents of Cheshire East is used to inform 
strategic and Service based decision making.

4 Impact on Health and Wellbeing Strategy Priorities

4.1 Improving the mental health and wellbeing of people living and working in Cheshire East 
is a priority of both the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the Cheshire East Health 
and Care Place Partnership’s Five Year Plan.

Page 66



5 Summary of Survey Findings

5.1 Effects on Mental Health – Current Concerns: A number of comments related to 
coronavirus, worries about getting the virus, the development of testing and a future 
vaccine. People also talked broadly about the huge impact the pandemic has had on 
their everyday life and concerns as to what the future will look like. People talked about 
social distancing issues and others ‘breaking the rules’. Anxiety and worry and concern 
for their own mental health are a thread throughout this.

There are some positive responses with people feeling happy and no problems. Cooking, 
exercise, and gardening cited as positive activities that aid this.

Page 67



 

Comments from people included:

Carer concerns:
• Mental health changes daily due to how stressed they are feeling about caring roles.
• The cared for person being made to feel like they are being demanding by asking the   
carer to collect food, prescriptions, etc.
• Somebody staying with elderly relative during lockdown, worried about the support that 
will be available when they have to return home.

Concerns about children:
• Worry about children’s education and social development.
• Increasing stress trying to home school whilst homeworking.
• Worried about childcare if parents/carers became ill.
• Separated parents refusing childcare due to one parent working with Covid patients.

Employment:
• Being made to go into work and feeling unsafe.
• Concern about mental adjustment to eventual return to work.
• Being redeployed at work with no consideration for mental health.
• Working 60+ hour weeks on the frontline without access to usual coping strategies such 
as the gym.

Financial:
• Zero-hour contract – no work.
• Isolating meaning reduced income, resulting in increased anxiety.
• Financial concerns.

Government messaging:
• Unclear messaging of Government. People interpreting different ways.

Page 68



Health concerns:
• Concern over own health/what would happen if fell ill.
• Concerns about mental health effects for somebody who needs carers after a spell in 
hospital.
• Concerns of having contracted Covid-19 from work, suffering from PTSD.
• Not possible to go out for someone in a wheelchair.

Other health conditions:
• Cancer treatment, not being able to go out leads to sitting and thinking about condition.
• Unable to visit ill relatives in care homes.

Social:
• Loneliness, feel isolated.
• Not being able to see family, friends or partners.
• Limited access to outside activities. Leisure facilities and shops closed, i.e. gym, coffee 
shops, cinema.
• Strained relationships at home.
• No motivation to exercise.

Social distancing:
• Keeping to 2m rule, i.e. enough space to walk on pavement.
• Too early to ease lockdown, concerned by people’s behaviours. Risks second wave.
• Volume of patients means social distancing can’t be observed in working environment 
(health).
• Not being able to see friends or family whilst other people break the lockdown rules.
• “I am concerned how my life can be impacted by those not following government 
rules/guidelines.”

6 Access to Information

6.1 The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting the report 
writer:
Name: Guy Kilminster
Designation: Corporate Manager Health Improvement
Tel No: 07795 617363
Email: guy.kilminster@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of Previous meeting
	7 Health and Wellbeing Board Redesign Task and Finish Group - Recommendations
	Appendix A Health and Wellbeing Board Draft Principles
	Appendix B Membership Review July 2020
	Terms of Reference July 2019 with proposed revisions

	8 The Cheshire East COVID-19 Outbreak Prevention, Management and Support Plan
	Outbreak Plan
	Structure Bookmarks


	9 COVID 19 - Mental Health Impacts



